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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This report combines the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties
Limited Partnership. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the term "Company", refers to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and subsidiaries and the term

"Operating Partnership" refers to Tanger Properties Limited Partnership and subsidiaries. The terms “we”, “our” and “us” refer to the Company or the Company
and the Operating Partnership together, as the text requires.

Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and subsidiaries is one of the largest owners and operators of outlet centers in the United States and Canada. The
Company is a fully-integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust ("REIT") which, through its controlling interest in the Operating
Partnership, focuses exclusively on developing, acquiring, owning, operating and managing outlet shopping centers. The outlet centers and other assets are
held by, and all of the operations are conducted by, the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, the descriptions of the business, employees
and properties of the Company are also descriptions of the business, employees and properties of the Operating Partnership. As the Operating Partnership is
the issuer of our registered debt securities, we are required to present a separate set of financial statements for this entity.

The Company owns the majority of the units of partnership interest issued by the Operating Partnership through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Tanger GP
Trust and Tanger LP Trust. Tanger GP Trust controls the Operating Partnership as its sole general partner. Tanger LP Trust holds a limited partnership interest.
As of March 31, 2016, the Company, through its ownership of Tanger GP Trust and Tanger LP Trust, owned 96,126,507 units of the Operating Partnership and
other limited partners (the "Non-Company LPs") collectively owned 5,052,743 Class A common limited partnership units. Each Class A common limited
partnership unit held by the Non-Company LPs is exchangeable for one of the Company's common shares, subject to certain limitations to preserve the
Company's status as a REIT. Class B common limited partnership units, which are held by Tanger LP Trust, are not exchangeable for common shares of the
Company.

Management operates the Company and the Operating Partnership as one enterprise. The management of the Company consists of the same members as the
management of the Operating Partnership. These individuals are officers of the Company and employees of the Operating Partnership. The individuals that
comprise the Company's Board of Directors are also the same individuals that make up Tanger GP Trust's Board of Trustees.

We believe combining the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q of the Company and the Operating Partnership into this single report results in the following benefits:

* enhancing investors' understanding of the Company and the Operating Partnership by enabling investors to view the business as a whole in the same
manner as management views and operates the business;

» eliminating duplicative disclosure and providing a more streamlined and readable presentation since a substantial portion of the disclosure applies to
both the Company and the Operating Partnership; and

» creating time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports.



There are only a few differences between the Company and the Operating Partnership, which are reflected in the disclosure in this report. We believe it is
important, however to understand these differences between the Company and the Operating Partnership in the context of how the Company and the Operating
Partnership operate as an interrelated consolidated company.

As stated above, the Company is a REIT, whose only material asset is its ownership of partnership interests of the Operating Partnership through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, the Tanger GP Trust and Tanger LP Trust. As a result, the Company does not conduct business itself, other than issuing public equity from
time to time and incurring expenses required to operate as a public company. However, all operating expenses incurred by the Company are reimbursed by the
Operating Partnership, thus the only material item on the Company's income statement is its equity in the earnings of the Operating Partnership. Therefore, the
assets and liabilities and the revenues and expenses of the Company and the Operating Partnership are the same on their respective financial statements,
except for immaterial differences related to cash, other assets and accrued liabilities that arise from public company expenses paid by the Company. The
Company itself does not hold any indebtedness but does guarantee certain debt of the Operating Partnership, as disclosed in this report.

The Operating Partnership holds all of the outlet centers and other assets, including the ownership interests in consolidated and unconsolidated joint ventures.
The Operating Partnership conducts the operations of the business and is structured as a partnership with no publicly traded equity. Except for net proceeds
from public equity issuances by the Company, which are contributed to the Operating Partnership in exchange for partnership units, the Operating Partnership
generates the capital required through its operations, its incurrence of indebtedness or through the issuance of partnership units.

Noncontrolling interests, shareholder's equity and partners' capital are the main areas of difference between the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and those of the Operating Partnership. The limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership held by the Non-Company LPs are accounted
for as partners' capital in the Operating Partnership's financial statements and as noncontrolling interests in the Company's financial statements.

To help investors understand the significant differences between the Company and the Operating Partnership, this report presents the following separate
sections, as applicable, for each of the Company and the Operating Partnership:

. Consolidated financial statements;
. The following notes to the consolidated financial statements:

* Debt of the Company and the Operating
Partnership;

«  Shareholders' Equity and Partners' Equity;
» Earnings Per Share and Earnings Per Unit;

* Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income of the Company and the Operating
Partnership;

+ Liquidity and Capital Resources in the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

This report also includes separate Item 4. Controls and Procedures sections and separate Exhibit 31 and 32 certifications for each of the Company and the
Operating Partnership in order to establish that the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of each entity have made the requisite certifications
and that the Company and Operating Partnership are compliant with Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. §1350.

The separate sections in this report for the Company and the Operating Partnership specifically refer to the Company and the Operating Partnership. In the
sections that combine disclosure of the Company and the Operating Partnership, this report refers to actions or holdings as being actions or holdings of the
Company. Although the Operating Partnership is generally the entity that enters into contracts and joint ventures and holds assets and debt, reference to the
Company is appropriate because the business is one enterprise and the Company operates the business through the Operating Partnership.



The Company currently consolidates the Operating Partnership because it has (1) the power to direct the activities of the Operating Partnership that most
significantly impact the Operating Partnership’s economic performance and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive the residual returns of the
Operating Partnership that could be potentially significant. The separate discussions of the Company and the Operating Partnership in this report should be
read in conjunction with each other to understand the results of the Company on a consolidated basis and how management operates the Company.
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PART I. - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1 - Financial Statements of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data, unaudited)

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Assets
Rental property
Land $ 235622 § 240,267
Buildings, improvements and fixtures 2,219,955 2,249,417
Construction in progress 42,287 23,533
2,497,864 2,513,217
Accumulated depreciation (749,325) (748,341)
Total rental property, net 1,748,539 1,764,876
Cash and cash equivalents 18,877 21,558
Restricted cash — 121,306
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures 218,732 201,083
Deferred lease costs and other intangibles, net 123,404 127,089
Prepaids and other assets 81,054 78,913
Total assets $ 2,190,606 $ 2,314,825
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Debt
Senior, unsecured notes, net $ 789,635 § 789,285
Unsecured term loans, net 258,540 265,832
Mortgages payable, net 167,603 310,587
Unsecured lines of credit, net 259,890 186,220
Total debt 1,475,668 1,551,924
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 67,608 97,396
Deferred financing obligation — 28,388
Other liabilities 31,758 31,085
Total liabilities 1,575,034 1,708,793
Commitments and contingencies — —
Equity
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.
Common shares, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 96,126,507 and 95,880,825 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively 961 959
Paid in capital 808,779 806,379
Accumulated distributions in excess of net income (195,654 ) (195,486)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (29,814) (36,715)
Equity attributable to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. 584,272 575,137
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interests
Noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership 30,711 30,309
Noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships 589 586
Total equity 615,572 606,032
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,190,606 $ 2,314,825

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share data, unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015

Revenues

Base rentals $ 72,623 % 67,629

Percentage rentals 2,150 2,229

Expense reimbursements 33,242 33,364

Management, leasing and other services 1,121 1,283

Other income 1,669 1,421

Total revenues 110,805 105,926

Expenses

Property operating 37,874 37,732

General and administrative 11,565 11,305

Depreciation and amortization 26,567 23,989

Total expenses 76,006 73,026

Operating income 34,799 32,900
Other income/(expense)

Interest expense (14,884) (13,089)

Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated joint ventures 4,887 13,726

Other nonoperating income 316 306
Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 25,118 33,843
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 3,499 2,543
Net income 28,617 36,386
Noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership (1,444) (1,855)
Noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships (23) (19)
Net income attributable to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. $ 27150 $ 34,512
Basic earnings per common share

Net income $ 028 $ 0.36
Diluted earnings per common share

Net income $ 028 $ 0.36
Dividends declared per common share $ 0285 § 0.240

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015
Net income $ 28,617 $ 36,386
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 8,654 (11,076)
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges (1,386) (1,287)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 7,268 (12,363)

Comprehensive income 35,885 24,023
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,834) (1,243)

Comprehensive income attributable to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. $ 34,051 $ 22,780

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share and per share data, unaudited)

Accumulated Total Tanger Noncontrolling Noncontrolling
distributions in  Accumulated other Factory Outlet interests in interests in
Common Paid in excess of comprehensive Centers, Inc. Operating other consolidated Total
shares capital earnings loss equity Partnership partnerships equity
Balance,
December 31, 2014 955 $ 791,566 $ (281,679) $ (14,023) $ 496,819 $ 26,417 $ 650 $ 523,886
Net income — — 34,512 — 34,512 1,855 19 36,386
Other comprehensive loss — — — (11,732) (11,732) (631) — (12,363)
Compensation under Incentive
Award Plan — 3,801 — — 3,801 — — 3,801
Issuance of 8,300 common
shares upon exercise of options — 233 — — 233 — — 233
Issuance of 348,844 restricted
common shares 3 3) — — — — — —
Withholding of 30,578 common
shares for employee income
taxes — (1,084) — — (1,084) — — (1,084)
Adjustment for noncontrolling
interests in Operating
Partnership — (59) — — (59) 59 — —
Adjustment for noncontrolling
interests in other consolidated
partnerships — 198 — — 198 — 1) 197
Common dividends ($0.240 per
share) — — (22,957) — (22,957) — — (22,957)
Distributions to noncontrolling
interests — — — — — (1,219) (29) (1,248)
Balance, March 31, 2015 958 $ 794,652 $ (270,124) $ (25,755) $ 499,731 § 26,481 $ 639 $ 526,851

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share and per share data, unaudited)

Accumulated Total Tanger Noncontrolling Noncontrolling
distributions in  Accumulated other Factory Outlet interests in interests in
Common Paid in excess of comprehensive Centers, Inc. Operating other consolidated Total
shares capital earnings loss equity Partnership partnerships equity
Balance, December 31, 2015 959 $ 806,379 $ (195,486) $ (36,715) $ 575,137 $ 30,309 $ 586 $ 606,032
Net income — — 27,150 — 27,150 1,444 23 28,617
Other comprehensive income — — — 6,901 6,901 367 — 7,268
Compensation under Incentive
Award Plan — 4,230 — — 4,230 — — 4,230
Issuance of 4,500 common
shares upon exercise of options — 123 — — 123 — — 123
Issuance of 277,524 restricted
common shares 3 (3) — — — — — —
Issuance of 24,040 deferred
shares — — — — — — — —
Withholding of 60,382 common
shares for employee income
taxes (1) (1,920) — — (1,921) — — (1,921)
Adjustment for noncontrolling
interests in Operating
Partnership — (31) — — (31) 31 — —
Adjustment for noncontrolling
interests in other consolidated
partnerships — 1 — — 1 — (1) —
Common dividends ($.285 per
share) — — (27,318) — (27,318) — — (27,318)
Distributions to noncontrolling
interests — — — — — (1,440) (19) (1,459)
Balance,
March 31, 2016 961 $ 808,779 $ (195,654) $ (29,814) $ 584,272 $ 30,711 $ 589 $ 615,572

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands, unaudited)

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 28,617 $ 36,386
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 26,567 23,989
Amortization of deferred financing costs 744 599
Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities (4,887) (13,726)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures (3,499) (2,543)
Share-based compensation expense 4,001 3,613
Amortization of debt (premiums) and discounts, net 959 14
Amortization (accretion) of market rent rate adjustments, net 664 916
Straight-line rent adjustments (1,607) (1,269)
Distributions of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures 2,709 2,719
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Other assets 732 1,885
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (969) 1,806
Net cash provided by operating activities 54,031 54,389
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to rental property (34,896) (51,044)
Additions to investments in unconsolidated joint ventures (12,161) (16.419)
Net proceeds on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities 25,785 15,495
Change in restricted cash 121,306 —
Proceeds from insurance reimbursements 72 103
Additions to non-real estate assets (2,144) (208)
Distributions in excess of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures 4,394 4,837
Additions to deferred lease costs (1,520) (2,338)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 100,836 (49,574)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash dividends paid (47,447) (22,957)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership (2,501) (1,219)
Proceeds from debt issuances 327,342 118,341
Repayments of debt (405,246) (99,742)
Repayment of deferred financing obligation (28,388) —
Employee income taxes paid related to shares withheld upon vesting of equity awards (1,921) (1,084)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships (19) (29)
Additions to deferred financing costs (82) (191)
Proceeds from exercise of options 123 233
Net cash used in financing activities (158,139) (6,648)
Effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 591 (381)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,681) (2,214)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 21,558 16,875
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 18,877 $ 14,661

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Item 1 - Financial Statements of Tanger Properties Limited Partnership

TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except unit data, unaudited)

December 31,

March 31, 2016 2015
Assets
Rental property
Land $ 235,622 $ 240,267
Buildings, improvements and fixtures 2,219,955 2,249,417
Construction in progress 42,287 23,533
2,497,864 2,513,217
Accumulated depreciation (749,325) (748,341)
Total rental property, net 1,748,539 1,764,876
Cash and cash equivalents 18,830 21,552
Restricted cash — 121,306
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures 218,732 201,083
Deferred lease costs and other intangibles, net 123,404 127,089
Prepaids and other assets 80,820 78,248
Total assets $ 2,190,325 $ 2,314,154
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Debt
Senior, unsecured notes, net $ 789,635 $ 789,285
Unsecured term loans, net 258,540 265,832
Mortgages payable, net 167,603 310,587
Unsecured lines of credit, net 259,890 186,220
Total debt 1,475,668 1,551,924
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 67,327 96,725
Deferred financing obligation — 28,388
Other liabilities 31,758 31,085
Total liabilities 1,574,753 1,708,122
Commitments and contingencies — —
Equity
Partners' Equity
General partner, 1,000,000 units outstanding at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 5,724 5,726
Limited partners, 5,052,743 Class A common units, and 95,126,507 and 94,880,825 Class B common
units outstanding at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively 640,693 638,422
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (31,434) (38,702)
Total partners' equity 614,983 605,446
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships 589 586
Total equity 615,572 606,032
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,190,325 $ 2,314,154

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per unit data, unaudited)

Three months ended March
31,

2016 2015

Revenues
Base rentals

$ 72623 $ 67,629

Percentage rentals 2,150 2,229

Expense reimbursements 33,242 33,364

Management, leasing and other services 1,121 1,283

Other income 1,669 1,421

Total revenues 110,805 105,926

Expenses

Property operating 37,874 37,732

General and administrative 11,565 11,305

Depreciation and amortization 26,567 23,989

Total expenses 76,006 73,026

Operating income 34,799 32,900
Other income/(expense)

Interest expense (14,884) (13,089)

Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated joint ventures 4,887 13,726

Other nonoperating income 316 306
Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 25,118 33,843
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 3,499 2,543
Net income 28,617 36,386
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships (23) (19)
Net income available to partners 28,594 36,367
Net income available to limited partners 28,311 36,007
Net income available to general partner $ 283 §$ 360
Basic earnings per common unit

Net income $ 028 §$ 0.36
Diluted earnings per common unit

Net income $ 028 §$ 0.36

Distribution declared per common unit

$ 0.285 § 0.240

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015
Net income $ 28,617 $ 36,386
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 8,654 (11,076)
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (1,386) (1,287)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 7,268 (12,363)

Comprehensive income 35,885 24,023
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships (23) (19)

Comprehensive income attributable to the Operating Partnership $ 35862 $ 24,004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands, except unit and per unit data, unaudited)

Noncontrolling interests

General Limited Accumulated other  Total partners’ in consolidated

partner partners comprehensive loss equity partnerships Total equity
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 4828 $ 533,199 $ (14,791) $ 523,236 $ 650 $ 523,886
Net income 360 36,007 — 36,367 19 36,386
Other comprehensive loss — — (12,363) (12,363) — (12,363)
Compensation under Incentive Award
Plan — 3,801 — 3,801 — 3,801
Issuance of 8,300 common units upon
exercise of options — 233 — 233 — 233
Issuance of 348,844 restricted common
units — — — — — —
Withholding of 30,578 common units for
employee income taxes — (1,084) — (1,084) — (1,084)
Adjustments for noncontrolling interests in
consolidated partnerships — 198 — 198 1) 197
Common distributions ($.240 per common
unit) (240) (23,936) — (24,176) — (24,176)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — (29) (29)
Balance, March 31, 2015 $ 4948 $ 548418 $ (27,154) $ 526,212 $ 639 $ 526,851

Noncontrolling interests

General Limited Accumulated other  Total partners' in consolidated

partner partners comprehensive loss equity partnerships Total equity
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 5726 $ 638422 §$ (38,702) $ 605,446 $ 586 $ 606,032
Net income 283 28,311 — 28,594 23 28,617
Other comprehensive income — — 7,268 7,268 — 7,268
Compensation under Incentive Award
Plan — 4,230 — 4,230 — 4,230
Issuance of 4,500 common units upon
exercise of options — 123 — 123 — 123
Issuance of 277,524 restricted common
units = = = = = =
Issuance of 24,040 deferred units - - - - - -
Withholding of 60,382 common units for
employee income taxes — (1,921) — (1,921) — (1,921)
Adjustment for noncontrolling interests in
consolidated partnerships — 1 — 1 (1) —
Common distributions ($.285 per common
unit) (285) (28,473) — (28,758) — (28,758)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — (19) (19)
Balance, March 31, 2016 $ 5724 $ 640,693 $ (31,434) $ 614,983 $ 589 $ 615,572

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands, unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 28,617 $ 36,386
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 26,567 23,989
Amortization of deferred financing costs 744 599
Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities (4,887) (13,726)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures (3,499) (2,543)
Equity-based compensation expense 4,001 3,613
Amortization of debt (premiums) and discounts, net 959 14
Amortization (accretion) of market rent rate adjustments, net 664 916
Straight-line rent adjustments (1,607) (1,269)
Distributions of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures 2,709 2,719
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Other assets 301 1,828
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (579) 2,854
Net cash provided by operating activities 53,990 55,380
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to rental property (34,896) (51,044)
Additions to investments in unconsolidated joint ventures (12,161) (16,419)
Net proceeds on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities 25,785 15,495
Change in restricted cash 121,306 —
Proceeds from insurance reimbursements 72 103
Additions to non-real estate assets (2,144) (208)
Distributions in excess of cumulative earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures 4,394 4,837
Additions to deferred lease costs (1,520) (2,338)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 100,836 (49,574)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash distributions paid (49,948) (24,176)
Proceeds from debt issuances 327,342 118,341
Repayments of debt (405,246) (99,742)
Repayment of deferred financing obligation (28,388) —
Employee income taxes paid related to shares withheld upon vesting of equity awards (1,921) (1,084)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in consolidated partnerships (19) (29)
Additions to deferred financing costs (82) (191)
Proceeds from exercise of options 123 233
Net cash used in financing activities (158,139) (6,648)
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents 591 (381)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,722) (1,223)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 21,552 15,806
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 18,830 $ 14,583

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business

Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and subsidiaries is one of the largest owners and operators of outlet centers in the United States and Canada. We are a
fully-integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust ("REIT") which, through our controlling interest in the Operating Partnership,
focuses exclusively on developing, acquiring, owning, operating and managing outlet shopping centers. As of March 31, 2016, we owned and operated 33
consolidated outlet centers, with a total gross leasable area of approximately 11.5 million square feet. We also had partial ownership interests in 9
unconsolidated outlet centers totaling approximately 2.8 million square feet, including 4 outlet centers in Canada.

Our outlet centers and other assets are held by, and all of our operations are conducted by, Tanger Properties Limited Partnership and subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the descriptions of our business, employees and properties are also descriptions of the business, employees and properties of the Operating
Partnership. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the term, "Company", refers to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and subsidiaries and the term,

"Operating Partnership", refers to Tanger Properties Limited Partnership and subsidiaries. The terms "we", "our" and "us" refer to the Company or the Company
and the Operating Partnership together, as the text requires.

The Company owns the majority of the units of partnership interest issued by the Operating Partnership through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Tanger GP
Trust and Tanger LP Trust. Tanger GP Trust controls the Operating Partnership as its sole general partner. Tanger LP Trust holds a limited partnership interest.
As of March 31, 2016, the Company, through its ownership of Tanger GP Trust and Tanger LP Trust, owned 96,126,507 units of the Operating Partnership and
other limited partners (the "Non-Company LPs") collectively owned 5,052,743 Class A common limited partnership units. Each Class A common limited
partnership unit held by the Non-Company LPs is exchangeable for one of the Company's common shares, subject to certain limitations to preserve the
Company's REIT status. Class B common limited partnership units, which are held by Tanger LP Trust, are not exchangeable for common shares of the
Company.

2. Basis of Presentation

The unaudited consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared pursuant to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of the Company's and the Operating Partnership's
combined Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. The December 31, 2015 balance sheet data in this Form 10-Q was derived
from audited financial statements. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the SEC's rules and regulations, although
management believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. In the opinion of management, all adjustments
(consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements for the interim periods have been made. The
results of interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full year.

The Company currently consolidates the Operating Partnership because it has (1) the power to direct the activities of the Operating Partnership that most

significantly impact the Operating Partnership’s economic performance and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive the residual returns of the
Operating Partnership that could be potentially significant.
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We consolidate properties that are wholly owned or properties where we own less than 100% but we control. Control is determined using an evaluation based
on accounting standards related to the consolidation of voting interest entities and variable interest entities ("VIE"). For joint ventures that are determined to be a
VIE, we consolidate the entity where we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary. Determination of the primary beneficiary is based on whether an entity has
(1) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the
entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Our
determination of the primary beneficiary considers all relationships between us and the VIE, including management agreements and other contractual
arrangements.

Investments in real estate joint ventures that we do not control but may exercise significant influence are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
These investments are recorded initially at cost and subsequently adjusted for our equity in the joint venture's net income or loss, cash contributions,
distributions and other adjustments required under the equity method of accounting.

For certain of these investments, we record our equity in the venture's net income or loss under the hypothetical liquidation at book value (“HLBV”) method of
accounting due to the structures and the preferences we receive on the distributions from our joint ventures pursuant to the respective joint venture agreements
for those joint ventures. Under this method, we recognize income and loss in each period based on the change in liquidation proceeds we would receive from a
hypothetical liquidation of our investment based on depreciated book value. Therefore, income or loss may be allocated disproportionately as compared to the
ownership percentages due to specified preferred return rate thresholds and may be more or less than actual cash distributions received and more or less than
what we may receive in the event of an actual liquidation. In the event a basis difference is created between our underlying interest in the venture's net assets
and our initial investment, we amortize such amount over the estimated life of the venture as a component of equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures.

We separately report investments in joint ventures for which accumulated distributions have exceeded investments in and our share of net income or loss of the
joint ventures within other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The carrying amount of our investments in the Charlotte and Galveston/Houston joint
ventures are less than zero because of financing or operating distributions that were greater than net income, as net income includes non-cash charges for
depreciation and amortization.

We have concluded that our Savannah and Southaven joint ventures are each considered a VIE because our voting rights are disproportionate to our economic
interests and substantially all of each venture's activities either involve us or are conducted on our behalf.

The operating, development, leasing, and management agreements of the Savannah joint venture provide that the activities that most significantly impact the
economic performance of the venture require unanimous consent. Accordingly, we determined that we are not the primary beneficiary since we do not have the
power to direct the significant activities that affect the economic performance of the venture, and have applied the equity method of accounting. The carrying
amount of our investment in Savannah is reflected in investments in unconsolidated joint ventures on our consolidated balance sheets and was $43.8 million as
of March 31, 2016. We are unable to estimate our maximum exposure to loss at this time because our guarantees are limited and based on the future operating
performance of Savannah.

The management agreement and other contractual arrangements for the Southaven joint venture give us, but not necessarily our joint venture partner,
significant participating rights over activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the ventures, thus we have concluded that we are the
primary beneficiary and have consolidated the venture's balance sheet and results of operations. At March 31, 2016, total assets of this venture were $82.8
million and total liabilities were $57.1 million. The primary classification of the assets on the consolidated balance sheets are total rental property, net of $79.2
million; cash of $1.5 million and other assets of $2.1 million (including deferred lease costs and other intangibles) and the primary classification of the liabilities
include accounts payable and accrued expenses of $4.7 million and mortgages payable net of debt origination costs of $51.5 million. These assets include only
those assets that can be used to settle obligations of the VIE. The liabilities include third party liabilities and exclude intercompany balances that are eliminated
in consolidation.
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"Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership" reflects the Non-Company LP's percentage ownership of the Operating Partnership's units.
"Noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships" consist of outside equity interests in partnerships or joint ventures not wholly owned by the
Company or the Operating Partnership that are consolidated with the financial results of the Company and Operating Partnership because the Operating
Partnership exercises control over the entities that own the properties. Noncontrolling interests are initially recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair
value based upon purchase price allocations. Income is allocated to the noncontrolling interests based on the allocation provisions within the partnership or joint
venture agreements.

As a result of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2015-03 Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation
of Debt Issuance Costs, our deferred debt origination costs and related accumulated amortization previously recorded in the line item “deferred debt origination
costs, net” have been reclassified from assets to the respective debt line items within the liabilities section in the consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2015. The reclassification decreases previously reported total assets and total liabilities by $11.9 million.

In February 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. ASU 2015-02 affects reporting
entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. ASU 2015-02 modifies the evaluation of whether limited partnerships
and similar legal entities are VIEs or voting interest entities, eliminates the presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership and
affects the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party relationships.
ASU 2015-02 is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. During the first quarter of 2016,
we adopted ASU No. 2015-02, "Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis" and this adoption did not have a material impact on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

3. Disposition of Properties and Properties Held for Sale

In January 2016, we sold our outlet center in Fort Myers, Florida located near Sanibel Island for net proceeds of approximately $25.8 million. The proceeds from
the sale of this unencumbered asset were used to pay down balances outstanding under our unsecured lines of credit.

The following table sets forth certain summarized information regarding the properties sold during the quarter ended March 31, 2016:

Square Feet Net Sales Price Gain on Sale(in
Properties Locations Date Sold (in 000's) (in 000's) 000's)
Sold:
Sanibel Center Fort Myers, Florida January 2016 199 §$ 25,785 § 4,887

The rental property sold did not meet the criteria for reporting discontinued operations, thus its results of operations have remained in continuing operations.

4. Developments of Consolidated Outlet Centers

The table below sets forth our consolidated outlet centers under development as of March 31, 2016:

Approximate square  Costs Incurred to
feet Date Borrowed to date
Project (in 000's) (in millions) (in millions) Projected Opening

Daytona Beach 352 § 33.4 — Holiday 2016
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Daytona Beach

In November 2015, we purchased land for approximately $9.9 million and commenced construction on the development of a wholly owned outlet center in
Daytona Beach, Florida.

5. Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Joint Ventures

The equity method of accounting is used to account for each of the individual joint ventures. We have an ownership interest in the following unconsolidated real
estate joint ventures:

As of March 31, 2016

Carrying Value of Total Joint Venture
Square Feet Investment (in Net Debt

Joint Venture Outlet Center Location Ownership % (in 000's) millions) (in millions)™
Columbus Columbus, OH 50.0% — 3 307 $ —
National Harbor National Harbor, MD 50.0% 339 5.5 85.9
RioCan Canada Various 50.0% 902 126.4 11.9
Savannah @ Savannah, GA 50.0% 377 43.8 93.5
Westgate Glendale, AZ 58.0% 411 12.3 61.9
$ 2187  § 253.2
Charlotte® Charlotte, NC 50.0% 398 § (1.4) $ 89.6
Galveston/Houston ) Texas City, TX 50.0% 353 2.1) 64.8
$ (35) $ 154.4

As of December 31, 2015
Carrying Value of Total Joint Venture
Square Feet Investment (in Net Debt

Joint Venture Outlet Center Location Ownership % (in 000's) millions) (in millions)™
Columbus Columbus, OH 50.0% — 211§ —
National Harbor National Harbor, MD 50.0% 339 6.1 85.8
RioCan Canada Various 50.0% 870 117.2 11.3
Savannah @ Savannah, GA 50.0% 377 44.4 87.6
Westgate Glendale, AZ 58.0% 411 12.3 61.9
$ 2011 $ 246.6
Charlotte® Charlotte, NC 50.0% 398 § (1.1) $ 89.6
Galveston/Houston® Texas City, TX 50.0% 353 (1.5) 64.7
$ (26) $ 154.3

1) Net of debt origination costs and including premiums 0f$2.8 million and $3.3 million as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
2) rBeassp:c(i:tg:lzépital contribution and distribution provisions in the joint venture agreement, we expect our economic interest in the venture's cash flow to be greater

than indicated in the Ownership column, which states our legal interest in this venture. As of March 31 2016, based upon the liquidation proceeds we would receive
from a hypothetical liquidation of our investment based on depreciated book value, our estimated economic interest in the venture was approximately 98%. Our
economic interest may fluctuate based on a number of factors, including mortgage financing, partnership capital contributions and distributions, and proceeds from
gains or losses of asset sales.

3) The negative carrying value is due to the distributions of proceeds from mortgage loans and quarterly distributions of excess cash flow exceeding the original
contributions from the partners.
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Fees we received for various services provided to our unconsolidated joint ventures were recognized in management, leasing and other services as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
Fee:
Development and leasing $ 192 §$ 581
Loan guarantee 182 196
Management and marketing 747 506
Total Fees $ 1,121 § 1,283

Our investments in real estate joint ventures are reduced by the percentage of the profits earned for leasing and development services associated with our
ownership interest in each joint venture. Our carrying value of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures differs from our share of the assets reported in the
"Summary Balance Sheets - Unconsolidated Joint Ventures" shown below due to adjustments to the book basis, including intercompany profits on sales of
services that are capitalized by the unconsolidated joint ventures. The differences in basis (totaling $4.1 million and $3.9 million as of March 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively) are amortized over the various useful lives of the related assets.

Columbus, Ohio

During the second quarter of 2015, the joint venture purchased land for approximately $8.9 million and began construction on Tanger Outlets Columbus. We
and our partner currently expect to complete construction in time to open the center during the second quarter of 2016. As of March 31, 2016, we and our
partner had each contributed $30.0 million to fund development activities. Our partner is providing development services to the joint venture and we, along with
our partner, are providing joint leasing services. Once the center opens, we will provide property management, marketing and leasing services to the joint
venture.
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Condensed combined summary financial information of unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for using the equity method is as follows (in thousands):

Condensed Combined Balance Sheets - Unconsolidated Joint Ventures March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Assets
Land $ 107,403 § 103,046
Buildings, improvements and fixtures 632,456 615,662
Construction in progress, including land 83,701 62,308
823,560 781,016
Accumulated depreciation (69,754) (60,629)
Total rental property, net 753,806 720,387
Cash and cash equivalents 27,671 28,723
Deferred lease costs, net 18,605 18,399
Prepaids and other assets 17,217 14,455
Total assets $ 817,299 § 781,964
Liabilities and Owners' Equity
Mortgages payable, net $ 407,640 $ 400,935
Accounts payable and other liabilities 27,604 31,805
Total liabilities 435,244 432,740
Owners' equity 382,055 349,224
Total liabilities and owners' equity $ 817,299 § 781,964

Three months ended

Condensed Combined Statements of Operations March 31,
- Unconsolidated Joint Ventures 2016 2015
Revenues $ 27,698 $ 23,965
Expenses
Property operating 10,318 9,144
General and administrative 117 218
Depreciation and amortization 8,799 7,822
Total expenses 19,234 17,184
Operating income 8,464 6,781
Interest expense (2,554) (1,770)
Other nonoperating income 1 8
Net income $ 5911 § 5,019

The Company and Operating Partnership's share of:
Net income $ 3499 § 2,543

Depreciation expense (real estate related) $ 5339 §$ 4,076

6. Debt of the Company
All of the Company's debt is held by the Operating Partnership and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The Company guarantees the Operating Partnership's obligations with respect to its unsecured lines of credit which have a total borrowing capacity of $520.0

million. The Company also guarantees the Operating Partnership's unsecured term loan.
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The Operating Partnership had the following principal amounts outstanding on the debt guaranteed by the Company (in thousands):

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Unsecured lines of credit $ 263,700 $ 190,300
Unsecured term loan $ 250,000 $ 250,000
7. Debt of the Operating Partnership
The debt of the Operating Partnership consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of As of
March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Stated Interest Rate(s) Maturity Date Principal Book Value(™ Principal Book Value(™

Senior, unsecured notes:

Senior notes 6.125% June 2020 $ 300,000 $ 297,860 $ 300,000 $ 297,739

Senior notes 3.875% December 2023 250,000 244977 250,000 244,829

Senior notes 3.750 % December 2024 250,000 246,798 250,000 246,717
Mortgages payable:

November 2021-

Atlantic City @ 5.14%-7.65% December 2026 42,617 45,728 43,312 46,605

Deer Park LIBOR + 1.50% — — — 150,000 149,145

Foxwoods LIBOR + 1.65% December 2017 70,250 69,651 70,250 69,564

Southaven LIBOR + 1.75% April 2018 52,717 52,224 45,824 45,273
Unsecured note payable (2) 1.50% June 2016 10,000 9,959 10,000 9,919
Unsecured term loan LIBOR + 1.05% February 2019 250,000 248,581 250,000 248,443
Unsecured term note LIBOR + 1.30% — — — 7,500 7,470
Unsecured lines of credit LIBOR + .90% October 2019 263,700 259,890 190,300 186,220

$ 1,489,284 § 1475668 $ 1,567,186 $ 1,551,924
(1) Including premiums and net of debt discount and net debt origination
costs.

2) The effective interest rates assigned during the purchase price allocation to the assumed mortgage and note payable during acquisitions in 2011 were as follows:

Atlantic City 5.05% and unsecured note payable3.15%.

Certain of our properties, which had a net book value of approximately $337.0 million at March 31, 2016 and $622.8 million at December 31, 2015, serve as
collateral for mortgages payable. We maintain unsecured lines of credit that provide for borrowings of up to $520.0 million. The unsecured lines of credit include
a $20.0 million liquidity line and a $500.0 million syndicated line. The syndicated line may be increased to $1.0 billion through an accordion feature in certain
circumstances.

We provide guarantees to lenders for our joint ventures which include standard non-recourse carve out indemnifications for losses arising from items such as
but not limited to fraud, physical waste, payment of taxes, environmental indemnities, misapplication of insurance proceeds or security deposits and failure to
maintain required insurance. For construction and term loans, we may include a guaranty of completion as well as a principal guaranty ranging from 5% to
100% of principal. The principal guarantees include terms for release or reduction based upon satisfactory completion of construction and performance targets
including occupancy thresholds and minimum debt service coverage tests.

The unsecured lines of credit and senior unsecured notes include covenants that require the maintenance of certain ratios, including debt service coverage and
leverage, and limit the payment of dividends such that dividends and distributions will not exceed funds from operations, as defined in the agreements, for the
prior fiscal year on an annual basis or 95% of funds from operations on a cumulative basis. As of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all of our debt
covenants.
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Deer Park Debt Repayment

In January 2016, we repaid our $150.0 million floating rate mortgage loan, which had an original maturity date in August 2018 and related to our 749,000 square
foot Deer Park outlet center.

Unsecured Term Note Repayment
In February 2016, we repaid our $7.5 million unsecured term note, which had an original maturity date in August 2017.
Debt Maturities

Maturities of the existing long-term debt as of March 31, 2016 for the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

Calendar Year Amount
2016 $ 12,148
2017 73,258
2018 55,900
2019 517,069
2020 303,566
Thereafter 527,343
Subtotal 1,489,284
Net discount and debt origination costs (13,616)
Total $ 1,475,668

8. Deferred Financing Obligation
In September 2015, the noncontrolling interest in our outlet center in Deer Park, New York exercised its right to require us to acquire their ownership interest in

the property for $28.4 million. We closed on the transaction in January 2016 and repaid the deferred financing obligation, which was recorded in the other
liabilities section of our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015.

24



9. Derivative Financial Instruments

The following table summarizes the terms and fair values of our derivative financial instruments, recorded in other liabilities within the consolidated balance
sheets, (in thousands):

Fair Value
Notional Company Fixed

Effective Date Maturity Date Amount Bank Pay Rate Pay Rate March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Liabilities:

November 14, 2013 August 14,2018 $ 50,000 1 month LIBOR 1.3075% $ (673) $ (212)

November 14, 2013 August 14, 2018 50,000 1 month LIBOR 1.2970% (661) (198)

November 14, 2013 August 14, 2018 50,000 1 month LIBOR 1.3025% (668) (206)

Total $ 150,000 $ (2,002) $ (616)

The derivative financial instruments are comprised of interest rate swaps, which are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, each with a separate
counterparty. We do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and currently do not have any derivatives that are not designated as hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
loss and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of the change in
fair value of the derivative, if any, is recognized directly in earnings. For the three months ended March 31, 2016, the ineffective portion was not significant.

The following table represents the effect of the derivative financial instruments on the accompanying consolidated financial statements (in thousands):

Three months ended March
31,

2016 2015

Interest Rate Swaps (Effective Portion):
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges $ (1,386) $ (1,287)

10. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers are defined as follows:

Tier Description
Level 1 Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 Unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions
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The following table sets forth our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets or Significant Significant
Total Liabilities Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Fair value as of March 31, 2016
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (other liabilities) $ (2,002) $ — (2,002) $ —
Total liabilities $ (2,002) $ — (2,002) $ —
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets or Significant Significant
Total Liabilities Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Fair value as of December 31, 2015:
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (other liabilities) $ (616) $ — 3 (616) $ —
Total assets $ (616) $ — 5 (616) $ —

Fair values of interest rate swaps are approximated using Level 2 inputs based on current market data received from financial sources that trade such
instruments and are based on prevailing market data and derived from third party proprietary models based on well recognized financial principles including
counterparty risks, credit spreads and interest rate projections, as well as reasonable estimates about relevant future market conditions.

The estimated fair value and recorded value of our debt consisting of senior unsecured notes, unsecured term loans, secured mortgages and unsecured lines of
credit were as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Fair value of debt $ 1,556,139 $ 1,615,833
Recorded value of debt $ 1,475,668 $ 1,551,924

With the exception of the unsecured term loan and unsecured lines of credit, that have variable rates and considered at market value, fair values of the senior
notes and mortgage loans are determined using discounted cash flow analysis with an interest rate or credit spread similar to that of current market borrowing
arrangements. Because the Company's senior unsecured notes are publicly traded with limited trading volume, these instruments are classified as Level 2 in the
hierarchy. In contrast, mortgage loans are classified as Level 3 given the unobservable inputs utilized in the valuation. Considerable judgment is necessary to
develop estimated fair values of financial instruments. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company
could realize on the disposition of the financial instruments.

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other assets and liabilities are reasonable estimates of
their fair values because of the short maturities of these instruments.
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11. Partners' Equity of the Operating Partnership

All units of partnership interest issued by the Operating Partnership have equal rights with respect to earnings, dividends and net assets. When the Company
issues common shares upon the exercise of options, the issuance of restricted share awards or the exchange of Class A common limited partnership units, the
Operating Partnership issues a corresponding Class B common limited partnership unit to Tanger LP trust, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The following table sets forth the changes in outstanding partnership units for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015.

Limited Partnership Units

General
Partnership Units Class A Class B Total
Balance December 31, 2014 1,000,000 5,078,406 94,509,781 99,588,187
Issuance of restricted units — — 348,844 348,844
Units issued upon exercise of options — — 8,300 8,300
Units withheld for employee income taxes — — (30,578) (30,578)
Balance March 31, 2015 1,000,000 5,078,406 94,836,347 99,914,753
Balance December 31, 2015 1,000,000 5,052,743 94,880,825 99,933,568
Issuance of restricted units — — 277,524 277,524
Issuance of deferred units — — 24,040 24,040
Units issued upon exercise of options — — 4,500 4,500
Units withheld for employee income taxes — — (60,382) (60,382)
Balance March 31, 2016 1,000,000 5,052,743 95,126,507 100,179,250
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12. Earnings Per Share of the Company

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators in computing the Company's earnings per share (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015

Numerator

Net income attributable to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. $ 27150 $ 34,512

Less allocation of earnings to participating securities (294) (408)

Net income available to common shareholders of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. $ 26,856 $ 34,104
Denominator

Basic weighted average common shares 94,944 94,536

Effect of notional units — 82

Effect of outstanding options and certain restricted common shares 59 79

Diluted weighted average common shares 95,003 94,697
Basic earnings per common share:

Net income $ 028 $ 0.36
Diluted earnings per common share:

Net income $ 028 $ 0.36

The notional units are considered contingently issuable common shares and are included in earnings per share if the effect is dilutive using the treasury stock
method.

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes options to purchase common shares when the exercise price is greater than the average market price
of the common shares for the period. For the three months ended March 31, 2016, 218,200 options were excluded from the computation and for the three
months ended March 31, 2015, 252,000 options were excluded from the computation, as they were anti-dilutive. The assumed exchange of the partnership
units held by the Non-Company LPs as of the beginning of the year, which would result in the elimination of earnings allocated to the noncontrolling interest in
the Operating Partnership, would have no impact on earnings per share since the allocation of earnings to a common limited partnership unit, as if exchanged,
is equivalent to earnings allocated to a common share.

Certain of the Company's unvested restricted common share awards contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. The impact of these
unvested restricted common share awards on earnings per share has been calculated using the two-class method whereby earnings are allocated to the
unvested restricted common share awards based on dividends declared and the unvested restricted common shares' participation rights in undistributed
earnings. Unvested restricted common shares that do not contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are included in the diluted earnings
per share computation if the effect is dilutive, using the treasury stock method.
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13. Earnings Per Unit of the Operating Partnership

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators in computing earnings per unit (in thousands, except per unit amounts):

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015

Numerator

Net income attributable to partners of the Operating Partnership $ 28,594 § 36,367

Less allocation of earnings to participating securities (294) (408)

Net income available to common unitholders of the Operating Partnership $ 28,300 $ 35,959
Denominator

Basic weighted average common units 99,997 99,614

Effect of notional units — 82

Effect of outstanding options and certain restricted common units 59 79

Diluted weighted average common units 100,056 99,775
Basic earnings per common unit:

Net income $ 028 $ 0.36
Diluted earnings per common unit:

Net income $ 028 §$ 0.36

The notional units are considered contingently issuable common units and are included in earnings per unit if the effect is dilutive using the treasury stock
method.

The computation of diluted earnings per unit excludes options to purchase common units when the exercise price is greater than the average market price of the
common units for the period. The market price of a common unit is considered to be equivalent to the market price of a Company common share. For the three
months ended March 31, 2016, 218,200 options were excluded from the computation and for the three months ended March 31, 2015, 252,000 options were
excluded from the computation, as they were anti-dilutive.

Certain of the Company's unvested restricted common share awards contain non-forfeitable rights to distributions or distribution equivalents. The impact of the
corresponding unvested restricted unit awards on earnings per unit has been calculated using the two-class method whereby earnings are allocated to the
unvested restricted unit awards based on distributions declared and the unvested restricted units' participation rights in undistributed earnings. Unvested
restricted common units that do not contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are included in the diluted earnings per unit computation if
the effect is dilutive, using the treasury stock method.

14. Equity Based Compensation of the Company

We have a shareholder approved equity-based compensation plan, the Incentive Award Plan of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties
Limited Partnership (Amended and Restated as of April 4, 2014) (the "Plan"), which covers our independent directors, officers, employees and consultants. For
each common share issued by the Company, the Operating Partnership issues one corresponding unit of partnership interest to the Company's wholly owned
subsidiaries. Therefore, when the Company grants an equity based award, the Operating Partnership treats each award as having been granted by the
Operating Partnership. In the discussion below, the term "we" refers to the Company and the Operating Partnership together and the term "shares" is meant to
also include corresponding units of the Operating Partnership.
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We recorded share-based compensation expense in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations as follows (in
thousands):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
Restricted common shares $ 2939 § 2,658
Notional unit performance awards 885 841
Options 177 114
Total share-based compensation $ 4,001 $ 3,613

Share-based compensation expense capitalized as a part of rental property and deferred lease costs were as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended
March 31,
2016 2015
Share-based compensation expense capitalized $ 230 $ 188

Restricted Common Share Awards

During February 2016, the Company granted 286,524 restricted common shares to the Company's independent directors and the Company's senior executive
officers. The grant date fair value of the awards ranged from $26.48 to $31.15 per share. The independent directors' restricted common shares vest ratably over
a three year period and the senior executive officers' restricted shares vest ratably over a four or five year period. For the restricted shares issued to our chief
executive officer, the restricted share agreement requires him to hold the shares for a minimum of three years following each vesting date. Compensation
expense related to the amortization of the deferred compensation is being recognized in accordance with the vesting schedule of the restricted shares.

For certain shares that vest during the period, we withhold shares with value equivalent to the employees' minimum statutory obligation for the applicable
income and other employment taxes, and remit cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. The total number of shares withheld upon vesting was 60,382 and
30,578 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was based on the value of the restricted common shares on the vesting date as
determined by our closing share price on the day prior to the vesting date. Total amounts paid for the employees' tax obligation to taxing authorities was $1.9
million and $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and is reflected as a financing activity within the consolidated
statements of cash flows.

2016 Outperformance Plan

In February 2016, the Compensation Committee of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. approved the terms of the Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. 2016
Outperformance Plan (the “2016 OPP"), a long-term incentive compensation plan. Under the 2016 OPP, the Company granted to award recipients an
aggregate of 321,900 performance share units with a grant date fair value of $15.10 per unit, which may convert, subject to the achievement of the goals
described below, into a maximum of 321,900 restricted common shares of the Company based on the Company’s absolute share price appreciation and its
share price appreciation relative to its peer group, over the three-year measurement period from February 10, 2016 through February 9, 2019.

The maximum number of shares will be earned under this plan if the Company both (a) achieves 35% or higher share price appreciation, inclusive of all
dividends paid, over the three-year measurement period and (b) is in the 70th or greater percentile of its peer group for total shareholder return over the three-
year measurement period. The Company expects that the value of the awards, if the Company achieves a 35% share price appreciation and is in the 70th or
greater percentile of its peer group for total shareholder return over the three-year measurement period, will equal approximately $12.8 million.

Any shares earned on February 9, 2019 are also subject to a time based vesting schedule, which provides that, subject to continued employment with the
Company, 50% of the shares will vest on February 15, 2019 and the remaining 50% will vest on February 15, 2020.
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With respect to 50% of the performance share units (representing a right to receive up to 160,950 restricted shares), 20% of this portion of the award
(representing a right to receive 32,190 restricted shares) will be earned if the Company’s aggregate share price appreciation, inclusive of all dividends paid
during this period, equals 18% over the three-year measurement period, 60% of this portion of the award (representing a right to receive 96,750 restricted
shares) will be earned if the Company’s aggregate share price appreciation, inclusive of all dividends paid during this period equals 26.5%, and 100% of this
portion of the award (representing a right to receive 160,950 restricted shares) will be earned if the Company’s aggregate share price appreciation, inclusive of
all dividends paid during this period, equals 35% or higher.

With respect to the other 50% of the performance share units (representing a right to receive up to 160,950 restricted shares), 20% of this portion of the award
(representing a right to receive up to 32,190 restricted shares) will be earned if the Company's share price appreciation inclusive of all dividends paid is in the
40th percentile of its peer group over the three-year measurement period, 60% of this portion of the award (representing a right to receive up to 96,750
restricted shares) will be earned if the Company's share price appreciation inclusive of all dividends paid is in the 55th percentile of its peer group during this
period, and 100% of this portion of the award (representing a right to receive 160,950 restricted shares) will be earned if the Company's share price appreciation
inclusive of all dividends paid is in the 70th percentile of its peer group or greater during this period. The peer group is based on companies included in the SNL
Equity REIT index.

The number of restricted shares received in respect of the performance share units will be determined on a pro-rata basis by linear interpolation between share

price appreciation thresholds, both for absolute share price appreciation and for relative share price appreciation amongst the Company's peer group. The share
price targets will be reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis with respect to any dividend payments made during the measurement period.
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15. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of the Company

The following table presents changes in the balances of each component of accumulated comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2016 (in

thousands):
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. Accumulated Noncontrolling Interest in Operating Partnership
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Foreign Cash flow Foreign Cash flow
Currency hedges Total Currency hedges Total
Balance December 31, 2015 $ (36,130) $ (585) $ (36,715) $ (1,956) $ (31) $ (1,987)
Unrealized gain on foreign currency translation
adjustments 8,217 — 8,217 437 — 437
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges — (1,316) (1,316) — (70) (70)
Balance March 31, 2016 $ (27,913) $ (1,901) $ (29,814) $ (1,519) $ (101) $ (1,620)

The following table presents changes in the balances of each component of accumulated comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2015 (in

thousands):
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Noncontrolling Interest in Operating Partnership
(Loss) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Foreign Cash flow Foreign Cash flow
Currency hedges Total Currency hedges Total
Balance December 31, 2014 $ (14,113) $ 9 $ (14,023) $ (773) $ 5 § (768)
Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation
adjustments (10,511) — (10,511) (565) (565)
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges — (1,221) (1,221) — (66) (66)
Balance March 31, 2015 $ (24,624) $ (1,131) $ (25,755) $ (1,338) $ 61) $ (1,399)
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16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of the Operating Partnership

The following table presents changes in the balances of each component of accumulated comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2016 (in
thousands):

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Foreign Currency Cash flow hedges Income (Loss)
Balance December 31, 2015 $ (38,086) $ (616) $ (38,702)
Unrealized gain on foreign currency translation adjustments 8,654 — 8,654
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges — (1,386) (1,386)
Balance March 31, 2016 $ (29,432) $ (2,002) $ (31,434)

The following table presents changes in the balances of each component of accumulated comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2015 (in
thousands):

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive

Foreign Currency Cash flow hedges Income (Loss)
Balance December 31, 2014 $ (14,886) $ 95 $ (14,791)
Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation adjustments (11,076) — (11,076)
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges — (1,287) (1,287)
Balance March 31, 2015 $ (25,962) $ (1,192) $ (27,154)

17. Non-Cash Activities

We purchase capital equipment and incur costs relating to construction of facilities, including tenant finishing allowances. Expenditures included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses were as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Costs relating to construction included in accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 19,620 $ 31,859
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18. New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting. ASU 2016-09 identifies areas for simplification involving several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income
tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, an option to recognize gross stock compensation expense with actual forfeitures
recognized as they occur, as well as certain classifications on the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2016 including interim periods within that reporting period and may be applied on a modified retrospective basis as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the date of adoption. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on our
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-07, Investments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Simplifying the Transition to the Equity
Method of Accounting, this standard eliminates the requirement that when an existing cost method investment qualifies for use of the equity method, an investor
must restate its historical financial statements, as if the equity method had been used during all previous periods. Under the new guidance, at the point an
investment qualifies for the equity method, any unrealized gain or loss in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) ("AOCI") will be recognized through
earnings. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, although early adoption is permitted. The
adoption of the guidance will be applied prospectively to increases in the level of ownership interest or degree of influence occurring after the new standards
effective date. Additional transition disclosures are not required upon adoption. We are currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may
have on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) — Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments (“ASU 2016-
06”), which will reduce diversity of practice in identifying embedded derivatives in debt instruments. ASU 2016-06 clarifies that the nature of an exercise
contingency is not subject to the “clearly and closely” criteria for purposes of assessing whether the call or put option must be separated from the debt
instrument and accounted for separately as a derivative. ASU No. 2016-06 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods therein, beginning after
December 15, 2016. Entities are required to apply the guidance to existing debt instruments using a modified retrospective transition method as of the period of
adoption. We are currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases. ASU 2016-02, codified in ASC 842, amends the existing accounting standards for lease
accounting, including requiring lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets and making targeted changes to lessor accounting. ASU 2016-02 will
be effective beginning in the first quarter of 2019. Early adoption of ASU 2016-02 as of its issuance is permitted. The new leases standard requires a modified
retrospective transition approach for all leases existing at, or entered into after, the date of initial application, with an option to use certain transition relief. We
are currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. This ASU is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. We are required to
adopt the new pronouncement in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 using one of two retrospective application methods. In March and April, 2016 the FASB issued
the following amendments to clarify the implementation guidance: ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) and ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing. We are currently evaluating the new guidance to determine the impact it may have on our consolidated financial
statements.
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19. Subsequent Events

In April 2016, we amended our unsecured term loan to increase the size of the loan from $250.0 million to $325.0 million, extend the maturity date from
February 23, 2019 to April 13, 2021, reduce the interest rate spread over LIBOR from 1.05% to 0.95%, and increase the incremental loan availability through an
accordion feature from $150.0 million to $175.0 million. We also entered into four separate interest rate swap agreements, effective April 13, 2016, that fix the
base LIBOR rate at an average of 1.03% on notional amounts totaling $175.0 million through January 1, 2021.

In April 2016, the Company's Board of Directors declared a $0.325 cash dividend per common share payable on May 13, 2016 to each shareholder of record on
April 29, 2016, and caused a $0.325 cash distribution per Operating Partnership unit to the Operating Partnership's unitholders.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The discussion of our results of operations reported in the unaudited, consolidated statements of operations compares the three months ended March 31, 2016
with the three months ended March 31, 2015. The results of operations discussion is combined for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties
Limited Partnership because the results are virtually the same for both entities. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this report. Historical results and percentage relationships set forth in the unaudited, consolidated
statements of operations, including trends which might appear, are not necessarily indicative of future operations. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the
term, "Company", refers to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and subsidiaries and the term, "Operating Partnership”, refers to Tanger Properties Limited
Partnership and subsidiaries. The terms "we", "our" and "us" refer to the Company or the Company and the Operating Partnership together, as the text requires.

Cautionary Statements

Certain statements made below are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We intend for such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-
looking statements contained in the Private Securities Reform Act of 1995 and included this statement for purposes of complying with these safe harbor
provisions. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies, beliefs and expectations, are
generally identifiable by use of the words "believe", "expect”, "intend", "anticipate”, "estimate”, "project”, or similar expressions. Such forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our: future issuances of equity and debt and the expected use of proceeds from such issuances; potential
sales or purchases of outlet centers; anticipated results of operations, liquidity and working capital; new outlet center developments, expansions and
renovations; and real estate joint ventures. You should not rely on forward-looking statements since they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other important factors which are, in some cases, beyond our control and which could materially affect our actual results, performance or achievements.
Important factors which may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, but are not limited to, our inability to develop new outlet
centers or expand existing outlet centers successfully; risks related to the economic performance and market value of our outlet centers; the relative illiquidity of
real property investments; impairment charges affecting our properties; competition for the acquisition and development of outlet centers, and our inability to
complete outlet centers we have identified; environmental regulations affecting our business; our dependence on rental income from real property; our
dependence on the results of operations of our retailers; the fact that certain of our properties are subject to ownership interests held by third parties, whose
interests may conflict with ours; risks related to uninsured losses; the risk that consumer, travel, shopping and spending habits may change; risks associated
with our Canadian expansion; risks associated with debt financing; our potential failure to qualify as a REIT; our legal obligation to make distributions to our
shareholders; our dependence on distributions from the Operating Partnership to meet our financial obligations, including dividends; the risk of a cyber-attack or
an act of cyber-terrorism; and those factors set forth under ltem 1A - "Risk Factors" in the Company's and the Operating Partnership's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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General Overview

As of March 31, 2016, we had 33 consolidated outlet centers in 20 states totaling 11.5 million square feet. We also had 9 unconsolidated outlet centers in 7
states or provinces totaling 2.8 million square feet. The table below details our new developments, expansions and dispositions of consolidated and
unconsolidated outlet centers that significantly impacted our results of operations and liquidity from January 1, 2015 to March 31, 2016 (square feet in
thousands):

Unconsolidated Joint Venture Outlet

Consolidated Outlet Centers Centers
Quarter Outlet
Outlet Center Acquired/Open/Disposed/Demolished Square Feet Outlet Centers Square Feet Centers

As of January 1, 2015 11,346 36 2,606 9
New Developments:

Foxwoods Second Quarter 312 1 — —

Savannah Second Quarter — — 377 1

Grand Rapids Third Quarter 352 1 — —

Southaven Fourth Quarter 320 1 — —
Expansion:

Westgate First Quarter — — 28 —

San Marcos Fourth Quarter 24 — — —
Disposition:

Wisconsin Dells First Quarter — — (265) 1)

Kittery | Third Quarter (52) (1) — —

Kittery Il Third Quarter (25) (1) — —

Tuscola Third Quarter (250) (1) — —

West Branch Third Quarter (113) 1) — —

Barstow Fourth Quarter 171) (1) — —
Other 3 — 1 —
As of December 31, 2015 11,746 34 2,747 9
Dispositions:

Fort Myers First Quarter (199) 1) — —
Expansion:

Ottawa — — 32 —
Other (20) — — —
As of March 31, 2016 11,527 33 2,779 9
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The following table summarizes certain information for our existing outlet centers in which we have an ownership interest as of March 31, 2016. Except as
noted, all properties are fee owned.

Consolidated Outlet Centers Legal Square %
Location Ownership % Feet Occupied
Deer Park, New York 100 749,074 96
Riverhead, New York (" 100 729,734 99
Foley, Alabama 100 556,984 94
Rehoboth Beach, Delaware (" 100 556,638 99
Atlantic City, New Jersey () ©) 99 489,706 91
San Marcos, Texas 100 465,697 98
Sevierville, Tennessee () 100 448,335 100
Myrtle Beach Hwy 501, South Carolina 100 425,247 96
Jeffersonville, Ohio 100 411,776 98
Myrtle Beach Hwy 17, South Carolina ™ 100 402,797 98
Charleston, South Carolina 100 382,117 98
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 100 372,958 100
Commerce, Georgia 100 371,408 94
Grand Rapids, Michigan 100 351,988 94
Branson, Missouri 100 329,861 100
Locust Grove, Georgia 100 321,070 100
Southaven, Mississippi @ ©®) 50 320,334 97
Park City, Utah 100 319,661 98
Mebane, North Carolina 100 318,910 98
Gonzales, Louisiana 100 318,666 98
Howell, Michigan 100 315,041 92
Mashantucket, Connecticut (Foxwoods) (1) ®) 67 311,614 96
Westbrook, Connecticut 100 289,898 92
Williamsburg, lowa 100 276,331 95
Hershey, Pennsylvania 100 247,500 99
Lancaster, Pennsylvania 100 247,002 97
Tilton, New Hampshire 100 245,698 97
100 206,544 95

Hilton Head II, South Carolina
Ocean City, Maryland ™ 100 198,840 79
Hilton Head I, South Carolina 100 181,670 97
Terrell, Texas 100 177,800 98
Blowing Rock, North Carolina 100 104,052 100
Nags Head, North Carolina 100 82,161 97
Totals 11,527,112 97 .
(1) These properties or a portion thereof are subject to a ground

| .
2) Be:ssgd on capital contribution and distribution provisions in the joint venture agreement, we expect our economic interest in the venture's cash flow to be greater

than our legal ownership percentage. We currently receive substantially all the economic interest of the property.
3) Excludes the occupancy rate at our Foxwoods, Grand Rapids and Southaven centers which opened during the second, third and fourth quarters of 2015,

respectively, and have not yet stabilized.
4) Excludes the occupancy rate at our Fort Myers outlet center which was sold on January 12,

2016.
(5) P?op?erty encumbered by mortgage. See note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for further details of our debt

obligations.
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Unconsolidated joint venture properties Legal Square %

Location Ownership % Feet Occupied
Glendale, Arizona (Westgate) @ 58 410,664 96
Charlotte, North Carolina 50 397,839 98
Savannah, Georgia () 50 377,286 99
Texas City, Texas (Galveston/Houston) ) 50 352,705 97
National Harbor, Maryland @ 50 338,786 99
Ottawa, Ontario 50 316,494 95
Cookstown, Ontario 50 308,517 99
Bromont, Quebec 50 161,307 74
Saint-Sauveur, Quebec @ 50 115,771 97
Total 2,779,369 96
(1) Based on capital contribution and distribution provisions in the joint venture agreement, we expect our economic interest in the venture's cash flow to be greater

than indicated in the Legal Ownership column, which states our legal interest in this venture. As of March 31, 2016, based upon the liquidation proceeds we would
receive from a hypothetical liquidation of our investment based on depreciated book value, our estimated economic interest in the venture was approximately 98%.
Our economic interest may fluctuate based on a number of factors, including mortgage financing, partnership capital contributions and distributions, and proceeds
from gains or losses of asset sales.

(2) Property encumbered by mortgage. See note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for further details of our debt
obligations.
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Leasing Activity

The following table provides information for our consolidated outlet centers regarding space re-leased or renewed:

Three months ended March 31, 2016
Average Net Average
Annual Average Annual
Square Feet Straight-line Rent Tenant Average Initial Term  Straight-line Rent
# of Leases (in 000's) (psf) Allowance (psf) (in years) (psf) @
Re-tenant 62 185 $ 3338 $ 28.12 910 $ 30.29
Renewal 166 762 $ 2591 $ 0.72 481 § 25.76
Three months ended March 31, 2015 ©
Average Net Average
Annual Average Annual
Square Feet Straight-line Rent Tenant Average Initial Term  Straight-line Rent
# of Leases (in 000's) (psf) Allowance (psf) (in years) (psf) @
Re-tenant 69 262 $ 3115 $ 26.84 951 $ 28.33
Renewal 172 833 § 2653 $ 0.16 562 $ 26.50
1) Excludes Fort Myers outlet center, which was sold in January
2016.

Net average straight-line rent is calculated by dividing the average tenant allowance costs per square foot by the average initial term and subtracting this calculated
number from the average straight-line rent per year amount. The average annual straight-line rent disclosed in the table above includes all concessions, abatements
and reimbursements of rent to tenants. The average tenant allowance disclosed in the table above includes landlord costs.
®)

Excludes Kittery | & Il, Tuscola, West Branch and Barstow outlet centers which were sold in
2015.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2016 to the three months ended March 31, 2015

NET INCOME

Net income decreased $7.8 million in the 2016 period to $28.6 million as compared to $36.4 million for the 2015 period. The majority of this decrease was due to
the $13.7 million gain on the sale of our equity interest in the Wisconsin Dells joint venture in the 2015 period versus the $4.9 million gain on the sale of our
outlet center in Fort Myers, Florida located near Sanibel Island in the 2016 period. Net income also decreased due to the disposition of six consolidated centers
in 2015 and 2016 totaling 810,000 square feet partially offset by an increase in operating income from the addition of four new properties (including both
consolidated and unconsolidated centers) during 2015 totaling 1.4 million square feet.

In the tables below, information set forth for new developments includes our Foxwoods, Grand Rapids, and Southaven outlet centers, which opened in May
2015, July 2015, and November 2015, respectively. Properties disposed includes the Kittery | & 1l, Tuscola, and West Branch outlet centers sold in September
2015, the Barstow outlet center sold in October 2015 and the Fort Myers outlet center sold in January 2016.

BASE RENTALS
Base rentals increased $5.0 million, or 7%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. The following table sets forth the changes in various components
of base rentals (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)
Base rentals from existing properties $ 65,708 $ 63,699 $ 2,009
Base rentals from new developments 6,843 — 6,843
Base rentals from properties disposed 67 3,594 (3,527)
Termination fees 555 1,138 (583)
Amortization of above and below market rent adjustments, net (550) (802) 252
$ 72,623 $ 67,629 $ 4,994

Base rental income generated from existing properties in our portfolio increased due to increases in rental rates on lease renewals and incremental rents from
re-tenanting vacant spaces.

Fees received from the early termination of leases, which are generally based on the lease term remaining at the time of termination, decreased as a result of
fewer store closures throughout the portfolio in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period.

At March 31, 2016, the combined net value representing the amount of unamortized above market lease assets and below market lease liability values,
recorded as a part of the purchase price of acquired properties, was a net above market lease asset which totaled approximately $5.3 million. If a tenant
terminates its lease prior to the contractual termination of the lease and no rental payments are being made on the lease, any unamortized balance of the
related above or below market lease value would be written off and could materially impact our net income positively or negatively.
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PERCENTAGE RENTALS
Percentage rentals decreased $79,000, or 4%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. Percentage rentals represents revenues based on a
percentage of tenants' sales volume above predetermined levels (contractual breakpoints").

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)
Percentage rentals from existing properties $ 2,048 $ 1,981 $ 67
Percentage rentals from new development 102 — 102
Percentage rentals from properties disposed — 248 (248)
$ 2,150 $ 2229 § (79)

EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS
Expense reimbursements decreased $122,000, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. The following table sets forth the changes in various
components of expense reimbursements (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)

Expense reimbursements from existing properties $ 30,692 $ 31,658 $ (966)
Expense reimbursements from new development 2,513 — 2,513

Expense reimbursements from properties disposed 37 1,706 (1,669)

$ 33,242 $ 33,364 $ (122)

Expense reimbursements, which represent the contractual recovery from tenants of certain common area maintenance, insurance, property tax, promotional,
advertising and management expenses, generally fluctuate consistently with the reimbursable property operating expenses to which they relate. See "Property
Operating Expenses" below for a discussion of the increase in operating expenses from our existing properties.

Most, but not all, leases contain provisions requiring tenants to pay a share of our operating expenses as additional rent. However, substantially all of the leases
for our new Foxwoods outlet center, which opened in May 2015, require tenants to pay a single minimum contractual gross rent and, in certain cases,
percentage rent; thus, all minimum rents received for the Foxwoods outlet center are recorded as base rent and none are recorded to expense reimbursements.

MANAGEMENT, LEASING AND OTHER SERVICES
Management, leasing and other services decreased $162,000, or 13%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. The following table sets forth the
changes in various components of management, leasing and other services (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)

Development and leasing $ 192§ 581 $ (389)

Loan guarantee 182 196 (14)
Management and marketing 747 506 241

$ 1,121 $ 1,283 $ (162)

Management, leasing and other services decreased primarily due to the 2015 period including significant development fee income from Westgate and Savannah
for construction activities. These decreases were partially offset by higher management fees from Savannah and Westgate in the 2016 period.
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PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES
Property operating expenses increased $142,000, in the 2016 period as compared to the 2015 period. The following table sets forth the changes in various
components of property operating expenses (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)
Property operating expenses from existing properties $ 33,891 § 35590 $ (1,699)
Property operating expenses from new developments 3,926 — 3,926
Property operating expenses from properties disposed 57 2,142 (2,085)
$ 37,874 $ 37,732 § 142

Property operating expenses from existing properties decreased primarily due to a decrease in snow removal costs as a result of a relatively mild winter in the
2016 period compared to the 2015 period.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
General and administrative expenses increased $260,000, or 2%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. This increase was a result of the 2016
period including higher payroll related expenses compared to the 2015 period due to annual wage increases.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization increased $2.6 million, or 11%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. The following table sets forth the changes in
various components of depreciation and amortization from the 2016 and 2015 periods (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)

Depreciation and amortization from existing properties $ 22957 $ 23649 § (692)
Depreciation and amortization from new developments 3,610 — 3,610
Depreciation and amortization from properties disposed — 340 (340)
$ 26,567 $ 23,989 § 2,578

Depreciation and amortization costs decreased at existing properties as certain construction and development related assets, as well as lease related
intangibles recorded as part of the acquisition price of acquired properties, which are amortized over shorter lives, became fully depreciated during the reporting
periods.

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense increased $1.8 million, or 14%, in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period, due to (1) our average borrowings increasing as compared to
the 2015 period, (2) placing mortgages on the Foxwoods and Southaven outlet centers which have a higher interest rate than our lines of credit which are
generally used to fund development, and (3) the 30-day LIBOR, which impacts the interest rate we pay on our floating rate debt, increasing relative to its level in
the 2015 period.

GAIN ON SALE OF ASSETS AND INTEREST IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

The gain on sale of assets and interest in unconsolidated entities decreased approximately $8.8 million or 64% in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period.
In the first quarter of 2016, we sold our Fort Myers outlet center for approximately $25.8 million, which resulted in a gain of $4.9 million. In February 2015, we
sold our equity interest in the joint venture that owned the Wisconsin Dells outlet center for approximately $15.6 million, representing our share of the sales price
totaling $27.7 million less our share of the outstanding debt, which totaled $12.1 million. As a result of this transaction, we recorded a gain of approximately
$13.7 million in the first quarter of 2015, which represents the difference between the carrying value of our equity method investment and the net proceeds
received.
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EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures increased approximately $1.0 million or 38% in the 2016 period compared to the 2015 period. The following
table sets forth the changes in various components of equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures (in thousands):

2016 2015 Increase/(Decrease)
Equity in earnings from existing properties $ 2,706 $ 2,385 $ 321
Equity in earnings from new developments 793 —  $ 793
Equity in earnings from properties disposed — 158 (158)
$ 3499 § 2,543 $ 956

The increase in equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures from from existing properties is primarily due to incremental earnings from the Westgate
expansion. The increase in equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures from new developments is due to the incremental earnings from the Savannah
outlet center, which opened in April 2015.The equity in earnings from properties disposed are related to our equity interest in the Wisconsin Dells joint venture,
which we sold in February 2015.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES OF THE COMPANY

In this "Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Company" section, the term, "the Company," refers only to Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. on an
unconsolidated basis, excluding the Operating Partnership.

The Company's business is operated primarily through the Operating Partnership. The Company issues public equity from time to time, but does not otherwise
generate any capital itself or conduct any business itself, other than incurring certain expenses in operating as a public company, which are fully reimbursed by
the Operating Partnership. The Company does not hold any indebtedness, and its only material asset is its ownership of partnership interests of the Operating
Partnership. The Company's principal funding requirement is the payment of dividends on its common shares. The Company's principal source of funding for its
dividend payments is distributions it receives from the Operating Partnership.

Through its ownership of the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, the Company has the full, exclusive and complete responsibility for the
Operating Partnership's day-to-day management and control. The Company causes the Operating Partnership to distribute all, or such portion as the Company
may in its discretion determine, of its available cash in the manner provided in the Operating Partnership's partnership agreement. The Company receives
proceeds from equity issuances from time to time, but is required by the Operating Partnership's partnership agreement to contribute the proceeds from its
equity issuances to the Operating Partnership in exchange for partnership units of the Operating Partnership.

The Company is a well-known seasoned issuer with a shelf registration that expires in June 2018 that allows the Company to register unspecified various
classes of equity securities and the Operating Partnership to register unspecified, various classes of debt securities. As circumstances warrant, the Company
may issue equity from time to time on an opportunistic basis, dependent upon market conditions and available pricing. The Operating Partnership may use the
proceeds to repay debt, including borrowings under its lines of credit, develop new or existing properties, to make acquisitions of properties or portfolios of
properties, to invest in existing or newly created joint ventures or for general corporate purposes.

The liquidity of the Company is dependent on the Operating Partnership's ability to make sufficient distributions to the Company. The Company also guarantees
some of the Operating Partnership's debt. If the Operating Partnership fails to fulfill its debt requirements, which trigger the Company's guarantee obligations,
then the Company may be required to fulfill its cash payment commitments under such guarantees. However, the Company's only material asset is its
investment in the Operating Partnership.

The Company believes the Operating Partnership's sources of working capital, specifically its cash flow from operations, and borrowings available under its
unsecured lines of credit, are adequate for it to make its distribution payments to the Company and, in turn, for the Company to make its dividend payments to
its shareholders. However, there can be no assurance that the Operating Partnership's sources of capital will continue to be available at all or in amounts
sufficient to meet its needs, including its ability to make distribution payments to the Company. The unavailability of capital could adversely affect the Operating
Partnership's ability to pay its distributions to the Company which will, in turn, adversely affect the Company's ability to pay cash dividends to its shareholders.

For the Company to maintain its qualification as a REIT, it must pay dividends to its shareholders aggregating annually at least 90% of its taxable income
(excluding capital gains). While historically the Company has satisfied this distribution requirement by making cash distributions to its shareholders, it may
choose to satisfy this requirement by making distributions of cash or other property, including, in limited circumstances, the Company's own shares.

As a result of this distribution requirement, the Operating Partnership cannot rely on retained earnings to fund its on-going operations to the same extent that
other companies whose parent companies are not real estate investment trusts can. The Company may need to continue to raise capital in the equity markets to
fund the Operating Partnership's working capital needs, as well as potential new developments, expansions and renovations of existing properties, acquisitions,
or investments in existing or newly created joint ventures.
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The Company currently consolidates the Operating Partnership because it has (1) the power to direct the activities of the Operating Partnership that most
significantly impact the Operating Partnership’s economic performance and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive the residual returns of the
Operating Partnership that could be potentially significant. The Company does not have significant assets other than its investment in the Operating
Partnership. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the revenues and expenses of the Company and the Operating Partnership are the same on their
respective financial statements, except for immaterial differences related to cash, other assets and accrued liabilities that arise from public company expenses
paid by the Company. However, all debt is held directly or indirectly at the Operating Partnership level, and the Company has guaranteed some of the
Operating Partnership's unsecured debt as discussed below. Because the Company consolidates the Operating Partnership, the section entitled "Liquidity and
Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership" should be read in conjunction with this section to understand the liquidity and capital resources of the
Company on a consolidated basis and how the Company is operated as a whole.

On April 7, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors declared a $0.325 cash dividend per common share payable on May 13, 2016 to each shareholder of record
on April 29, 2016, and caused a $0.325 cash distribution per Operating Partnership unit to the Operating Partnership's unitholders.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES OF THE OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

General Overview
In this "Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Operating Partnership" section, the terms "we", "our" and "us" refer to the Operating Partnership or the Operating
Partnership and the Company together, as the text requires.

Property rental income represents our primary source to pay property operating expenses, debt service, capital expenditures and distributions, excluding non-
recurring capital expenditures and acquisitions. To the extent that our cash flow from operating activities is insufficient to cover such non-recurring capital
expenditures and acquisitions, we finance such activities from borrowings under our unsecured lines of credit or from the proceeds from the Operating
Partnership's debt offerings and the Company's equity offerings.

We believe we achieve a strong and flexible financial position by attempting to: (1) maintain a conservative leverage position relative to our portfolio when
pursuing new development, expansion and acquisition opportunities, (2) extend and sequence debt maturities, (3) manage our interest rate risk through a
proper mix of fixed and variable rate debt, (4) maintain access to liquidity by using our unsecured lines of credit in a conservative manner and (5) preserve
internally generated sources of capital by strategically divesting of underperforming assets and maintaining a conservative distribution payout ratio. We manage
our capital structure to reflect a long term investment approach and utilize multiple sources of capital to meet our requirements.

The following table sets forth our changes in cash flows (in thousands):

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015 Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 53,990 $ 55,380 $ (1,390)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 100,836 (49,574) 150,410
Net cash used in financing activities (158,139) (6,648) (151,491)
Effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and equivalents 591 (381) 972
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (2,722) $ (1,223) $ (1,499)

Operating Activities

In 2016, our cash provided by operating activities was positively impacted by an increase in operating income as a result of the net growth in leasable square
feet in our portfolio of outlet centers, but decreased year over year due to changes in other assets and accounts payable and accrued expenses.
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Investing Activities
The increase in net cash provided by investing activities is primarily associated with the following:

»  We used restricted cash of $121.3 million to repay in 2016 a portion of our $150.0 million floating rate mortgage loan, which had an original maturity date
in August 2018, and our $28.4 million deferred financing obligation, both of which related to the Deer Park outlet center.

* Cash provided from asset sales increased in 2016 compared to 2015, as proceeds from the sale of our Fort Myers outlet center exceeded the proceeds
from the sale of our equity interest in the Wisconsin Dells outlet center.

* Cash used for additions to rental property decreased due to lower new outlet center construction in 2016 as compared to 2015. The 2015 period
included additions for our Foxwoods, Grand Rapids, and Southaven outlet centers, all of which opened throughout 2015, while the 2016 period primarily
included construction at our Daytona Beach outlet center.

Financing Activities
The increase in net cash used in financing activities is primarily associated with the following:
* Increase in cash distributions paid due to a special dividend that was paid in January 2016 and an increase in quarterly dividends paid to common
shareholders in 2016.
» Increase in cash used for debt repayments, which included the repayments of our Deer Park $150.0 million floating rate mortgage loan and our $7.5
million unsecured term note. The increase in debt repayments was partially offset by an increase in borrowings.
» Cash used for the payment of a deferred financing obligation to a former partner at Deer Park, which increased our legal ownership to 100%.
Capital Expenditures

The following table details our capital expenditures (in thousands):

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015 Change
Capital expenditures analysis:
New center developments $ 21,196 $ 56,234 $ (35,038)
Major center renovations 854 747 107
Second generation tenant allowances 1,672 956 716
Other capital expenditures 2,129 1,933 196
25,851 59,870 (34,019)
Conversion from accrual to cash basis 9,045 (8,826) 17,871
Additions to rental property-cash basis $ 34,896 $ 51,044 3 (16,148)

* New center development expenditures, which include first generation tenant allowances, relate to construction expenditures for our Daytona Beach,
Southaven, and San Marcos outlet centers in the 2016 period. The 2015 period included new center development expenditures for our Grand Rapids,
Southaven, and Foxwoods outlet centers.

* Major center renovations in both the 2016 and 2015 periods included construction activities at our Riverhead and our Rehoboth Beach outlet centers. The
2016 period also includes renovations at our Howell outlet center. We expect to spend approximately $30.1 million during 2016 on the renovation of these
three outlet centers.
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Current Developments

We intend to continue to grow our portfolio by developing, expanding or acquiring additional outlet centers. In the section below, we describe the new
developments that are either currently planned, underway or recently completed. However, you should note that any developments or expansions that we, or a
joint venture that we have an ownership interest in, have planned or anticipated may not be started or completed as scheduled, or may not result in accretive
net income or funds from operations ("FFO"). See the section "Non-GAAP Supplemental Earnings Measures" - "Funds From Operations" below for further
discussion of FFO.

In addition, we regularly evaluate acquisition or disposition proposals and engage from time to time in negotiations for acquisitions or dispositions of properties.
We may also enter into letters of intent for the purchase or sale of properties. Any prospective acquisition or disposition that is being evaluated or which is
subject to a letter of intent may not be consummated, or if consummated, may not result in an increase in earnings or liquidity.

New Development of Consolidated Outlet Centers

The following table summarizes our projects under development as of March 31, 2016:

Approximate Projected Total Net  Projected Total Net  Costs Incurred to
square feet Cost per Square Foot Cost Date
Project (in 000's) (in dollars) (in millions) (in millions) Projected Opening
Daytona Beach 352 § 259 § 913 § 334 Holiday 2016

Daytona Beach

In November 2015, we purchased land for approximately $9.9 million and commenced construction on the development of a wholly owned outlet center in
Daytona Beach, Florida.

New Development in Unconsolidated Real Estate Joint Ventures

We have formed joint venture arrangements to develop outlet centers that are currently in various stages of development in several markets. Also, see "Off-
Balance Sheet Arrangements" for a discussion of unconsolidated joint venture development activities. The following table summarizes our development projects
as of March 31, 2016:

Projected Total Net

Approximate Cost per Square Projected Total Net
square feet Foot Cost Costs Incurred to Date Projected
Project Ownership % (in 000's) (in dollars) (in millions) (in millions) Opening
Columbus, Ohio 50% 355 § 267 $ 949 $ 59.9 2Q16

Columbus

During the second quarter of 2015, the joint venture purchased land for approximately $8.9 million and began construction on Tanger Outlets Columbus. As of

March 31, 2016, we and our partner had each contributed $30.0 million to fund development activities. Our partner is providing development services to the joint
venture and we, along with our partner, are providing joint leasing services. Once the center opens, we will provide property management, marketing and

leasing services to the joint venture.

Other Potential Future Developments and Dispositions of Rental Property

As of the date of this filing, we are in the initial study period for potential new developments. We may also use joint venture arrangements to develop other
potential sites. There can be no assurance, however, that these potential future projects will ultimately be developed.
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In the case of projects to be wholly-owned by us, we expect to fund these projects from amounts available under our unsecured lines of credit, but may also fund
them with capital from additional public debt and equity offerings. For projects to be developed through joint venture arrangements, we may use collateralized
construction loans to fund a portion of the project, with our share of the equity requirements funded from sources described above.

In March 2016, we announced our newest pre-development project, located in the greater Fort Worth, Texas market within the 279-acre Champions Circle
mixed-use development adjacent to Texas Motor Speedway. We plan to develop a 350,000 square foot outlet center featuring over 70 upscale brand name and
designer retailers. Pre-development and pre-leasing efforts for the project are ongoing. If we achieve our pre-leasing hurdles, we plan to acquire the land and
commence construction.

In January 2016, we sold our outlet center in Fort Myers, Florida located near Sanibel Island for net proceeds of approximately ~$25.8 million for a gain of $4.9
million. The proceeds from the sale of this unencumbered asset were used to pay down balances outstanding under our unsecured lines of credit.

Financing Arrangements

As of March 31, 2016, unsecured borrowings represented 89% of our outstanding debt and 86% of the gross book value of our real estate portfolio was
unencumbered. We maintain unsecured lines of credit that provide for borrowings of up to $520.0 million. The unsecured lines of credit include a $20.0 million
liquidity line and a $500.0 million syndicated line. Our unsecured lines of credit bear interest at a rate of LIBOR + 0.90% and the syndicated line may be
increased to $1.0 billion through an accordion feature in certain circumstances. The Company guarantees the Operating Partnership's obligations under these
lines. As of March 31, 2016, we had $256.3 million available under our unsecured lines of credit.

In January 2016, we used restricted cash and unsecured lines of credit to repay our $150.0 million floating rate mortgage loan, which had an original maturity
date in August 2018, and our $28.4 million deferred financing obligation, both of which are related to our 749,000 square foot outlet center in Deer Park. These
transactions allowed us to unencumber the Deer Park asset while simultaneously deferring a significant portion of the gains related to the assets sold in 2015 for
tax purposes.

In April 2016, we amended our unsecured term loan to increase the size of the loan from $250.0 million to $325.0 million, extend the maturity date from
February 23, 2019 to April 13, 2021, reduce the interest rate spread over LIBOR from 1.05% to 0.95% and increase the incremental loan availability through an
accordion feature from $150.0 million to $175.0 million. We also entered into four separate interest rate swap agreements, effective April 13, 2016 that fix the
base LIBOR rate at an average of 1.03% on notional amounts totaling $175.0 million through January 1, 2021.

We intend to retain the ability to raise additional capital, including public debt or equity, to pursue attractive investment opportunities that may arise and to
otherwise act in a manner that we believe to be in the best interests of our shareholders and unitholders. The Company is a well-known seasoned issuer with a
joint shelf registration with the Operating Partnership, expiring in June 2018, that allows us to register unspecified amounts of different classes of securities on
Form S-3.To generate capital to reinvest into other attractive investment opportunities, we may also consider the use of additional operational and
developmental joint ventures, the sale or lease of outparcels on our existing properties and the sale of certain properties that do not meet our long-term
investment criteria. Based on cash provided by operations, existing lines of credit, ongoing relationships with certain financial institutions and our ability to sell
debt or issue equity subject to market conditions, we believe that we have access to the necessary financing to fund the planned capital expenditures through
the end of 2016.

We anticipate that adequate cash will be available to fund our operating and administrative expenses, regular debt service obligations, and the payment of
dividends in accordance with REIT requirements in both the short and long-term. Although we receive most of our rental payments on a monthly basis,
distributions to shareholders and unitholders are made quarterly and interest payments on the senior, unsecured notes are made semi-annually. Amounts
accumulated for such payments will be used in the interim to reduce the outstanding borrowings under our existing unsecured lines of credit or invested in
short-term money market or other suitable instruments.

We believe our current balance sheet position is financially sound; however, due to the uncertainty and unpredictability of the capital and credit markets, we can

give no assurance that affordable access to capital will exist between now and 2020 when our next significant debt maturities occur, assuming extension options
are exercised.
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The Operating Partnership's debt agreements require the maintenance of certain ratios, including debt service coverage and leverage, and limit the payment of
dividends such that dividends and distributions will not exceed funds from operations, as defined in the agreements, for the prior fiscal year on an annual basis
or 95% on a cumulative basis. We have historically been and currently are in compliance with all of our debt covenants. We expect to remain in compliance with
all of our existing debt covenants; however, should circumstances arise that would cause us to be in default, the various lenders would have the ability to
accelerate the maturity on our outstanding debt.

We believe our most restrictive covenants are contained in our senior, unsecured notes. Key financial covenants and their covenant levels include the following:

Senior unsecured notes financial covenants Required Actual

Total consolidated debt to adjusted total assets <60% 49%
Total secured debt to adjusted total assets <40% 6%
Total unencumbered assets to unsecured debt >150% 187 %

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The following table details certain information as of March 31, 2016 about various unconsolidated real estate joint ventures in which we have an ownership
interest:

Square Feet Carrying Value of

Joint Venture Outlet Center Location Ownership % (in 000's) Investment (in millions)
Columbus Columbus, OH 50.0% — 3 30.7
National Harbor National Harbor, MD 50.0% 339 5.5
RioCan Canada Various 50.0 % 902 126.4
Savannah M Savannah, GA 50.0% 377 43.8
Westgate Glendale, AZ 58.0% 411 12.3

$ 218.7

Charlotte® Charlotte, NC 50.0% 398 §$ (1.4)

Galveston/Houston @ Texas City, TX 50.0% 353 (2.1)

$ (3.5)

(1) Based on capital contribution and distribution provisions in the joint venture agreement, we expect our economic interest in the venture's cash flow to be greater

than the ownership percentage indicated above, which in this case, states our legal interest in this venture. Our economic interest may fluctuate based on a number
of factors, including mortgage financing, partnership capital contributions and distributions, and proceeds from asset sales.

(2) The negative carrying value is due to the distributions of proceeds from mortgage loans, and quarterly distributions of excess cash flow exceeding the original
contributions from the partners.

Our joint ventures are generally subject to buy-sell provisions which are customary for joint venture agreements in the real estate industry. Either partner may
initiate these provisions (subject to any applicable lock up period), which could result in either the sale of our interest or the use of available cash or additional
borrowings to acquire the other party's interest. Under these provisions, one partner sets a price for the property, then the other partner has the option to either
(1) purchase their partner's interest based on that price or (2) sell its interest to the other partner based on that price. Since the partner other than the partner
who triggers the provision has the option to be the buyer or seller, we don't consider this arrangement to be a mandatory redeemable obligation.

We provide guarantees to lenders for our joint ventures which include standard non-recourse carve out indemnifications for losses arising from items such as
but not limited to fraud, physical waste, payment of taxes, environmental indemnities, misapplication of insurance proceeds or security deposits and failure to
maintain required insurance. For construction and term loans, we may include a guaranty of completion as well as a principal guaranty ranging from 5% to 100%
of principal. The principal guarantees include terms for release based upon satisfactory completion of construction and performance targets including
occupancy thresholds and minimum debt service coverage tests. Our joint ventures may contain make whole provisions in the event that demands are made on
any existing guarantees.
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Columbus

During the second quarter of 2015, the joint venture purchased land for approximately $8.9 million and began construction on Tanger Outlets Columbus. We
and our partner currently expect to complete construction in time to open the center during the second quarter of 2016. As of March 31, 2016, we and our
partner had each contributed $30.0 million to fund development activities. Our partner is providing development services to the joint venture and we, along with
our partner, are providing joint leasing services. Once the center opens, we will provide property management, marketing and leasing services to the joint
venture.

Savannah

In May 2014, the joint venture closed on a construction loan with the ability to borrow up to $97.7 million at an interest rate of LIBOR + 1.65%. In September
2015, the loan maximum borrowing amount was increased to $100.9 million. The construction loan has a maturity date of May 21, 2017, with two, one -year
extension options. As of March 31, 2016, the principal balance on the loan was $95.1 million. The additional $5.8 million is available for construction of the
approximately 42,000 square foot expansion that is currently in process. We are providing development, management and marketing services to the joint
venture; and with our partner, are jointly providing leasing services to the outlet center.

Debt of unconsolidated joint ventures

The following table details information regarding the outstanding debt of the unconsolidated joint ventures and principal guarantees of such debt provided by us
as of March 31, 2016 (dollars in millions):

Maximum Guaranteed

Total Joint Percent Guaranteed Amount by the

Joint Venture Venture Debt Maturity Date Interest Rate by the Company Company
Charlotte $ 90.0 November 2018 LIBOR + 1.45% 5.0% $ 4.5
Galveston/Houston 65.0 July 2017 LIBOR + 1.50% 5.0% 3.3
National Harbor(" 87.0 November 2019 LIBOR + 1.65% 10.0% 8.7
RioCan Canada @ 11.9 May 2020 5.75% 26.1% 3.1
Savannah © 95.1 May 2017 LIBOR + 1.65% 15.8% 15.0
Westgate 62.0 June 2017 LIBOR + 1.75% —% —
Debt origination costs (3.4)

$ 407.6 $ 34.6

1) 100% completion guaranty; 10% principal

guaranty.
(2) The joint venture debt amount includes premium of approximately

$610,000.
3) 100% completion guaranty; $15.0 million principal

guaranty.

Fees from unconsolidated joint ventures

Fees we received for various services provided to our unconsolidated joint ventures were recognized in other income as follows (in thousands):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
Fee:
Development and leasing $ 192§ 581
Loan Guarantee 182 196
Management and marketing 747 506
Total Fees $ 1,121 § 1,283
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Refer to our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company and the Operating Partnership for a discussion of our critical accounting policies which include
principles of consolidation, acquisition of real estate, cost capitalization, impairment of long-lived assets and revenue recognition. There have been no material
changes to these policies in 2016.

NON-GAAP SUPPLEMENTAL EARNINGS MEASURES
Funds From Operations

Funds From Operations ("FFO") is a widely used measure of the operating performance or real estate companies that supplements net income (loss)
determined in accordance with GAAP. We determine FFO based on the definition set forth by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts
("NAREIT"), of which we are a member. FFO represents net income (loss) (computed in accordance with GAAP) before extraordinary items and gains (losses)
on sale or disposal of depreciable operating properties, plus depreciation and amortization of real estate assets, impairment losses on depreciable real estate of
consolidated real estate and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, including depreciation and amortization, and impairment
losses on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures driven by a measurable decrease in the fair value of depreciable real estate held by the unconsolidated
joint ventures.

FFO is intended to exclude historical cost depreciation of real estate as required by GAAP which assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes ratably
over time. Historically, however, real estate values have risen or fallen with market conditions. Because FFO excludes depreciation and amortization of real
estate assets, gains and losses from property dispositions and extraordinary items, it provides a performance measure that, when compared year over year,
reflects the impact to operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, development activities and interest costs, providing perspective
not immediately apparent from net income.

We present FFO because we consider it an important supplemental measure of our operating performance. In addition, a portion of cash bonus compensation
to certain members of management is based on our FFO or Adjusted Funds From Operations ("AFFO"), which is described in the section below. We believe it
is useful for investors to have enhanced transparency into how we evaluate our performance and that of our management. In addition, FFO is frequently used
by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of REITs, many of which present FFO when reporting their results. FFO is also
widely used by us and others in our industry to evaluate and price potential acquisition candidates. NAREIT has encouraged its member companies to report
their FFO as a supplemental, industry-wide standard measure of REIT operating performance.

FFO has significant limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under
GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

» FFO does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual
commitments;

*  FFO does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

» Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future,
and FFO does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

* FFO, which includes discontinued operations, may not be indicative of our ongoing operations;
and

*  Other companies in our industry may calculate FFO differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative
measure.

Because of these limitations, FFO should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business or our
dividend paying capacity. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using FFO only as a supplemental measure.

52



Below is a reconciliation of net income to FFO (in thousands, except per share and per unit amounts):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015

FFO
Net income $ 28,617 $ 36,386

Adjusted for:

Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets - consolidated 26,205 23,637

Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets - unconsolidated joint ventures 5,339 4,076

Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities (4,887) (13,726)
FFO 55,274 50,373
FFO attributable to noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships (47) (42)
Allocation of FFO to participating securities (569) (560)
FFO available to common shareholders and noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership $ 54,658 $ 49,771
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.:
Weighted average common shares outstanding () 100,056 99,775
Dilutive funds from operations per share $ 055 $ 0.50
Tanger Properties Limited Partnership:
Weighted average Operating Partnership units outstanding ™ 100,056 99,775
Dilutive funds from operations per unit $ 055 § 0.50
(1) Includes the dilutive effect of options, restricted common shares not considered participating securities, and notional
2) er]gz.mes the Class A common limited partnership units of the Operating Partnership held by the noncontrolling interests are exchanged for common shares of the

Company. Each Class A common limited partnership unit is exchangeable for one of the Company's common shares, subject to certain limitations to preserve the
Company's REIT status.
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Adjusted Funds From Operations

We present AFFO, as a supplemental measure of our performance. We define AFFO as FFO further adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items that we do
not consider indicative of our ongoing operating performance. These further adjustments are itemized in the table below. You are encouraged to evaluate these
adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating AFFO you should be aware that in the future we may incur
expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation of AFFO should not be construed as an inference
that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

We present AFFO because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by
excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. In addition, we believe it is useful for investors to have enhanced
transparency into how we evaluate management’s performance and the effectiveness of our business strategies. We use AFFO when certain material,
unplanned transactions occur as a factor in evaluating management's performance and to evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies, and may use
AFFO when determining incentive compensation.

AFFO has limitations as an analytical tool. Some of these limitations are:

* AFFO does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual
commitments;

* AFFO does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

» Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future,
and AFFO does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

* AFFO does not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations;
and

*  Other companies in our industry may calculate AFFO differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative
measure.

Because of these limitations, AFFO should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using AFFO only as a supplemental measure.
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Below is a reconciliation of FFO to AFFO (in thousands, except per share and per unit amounts):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
AFFO
FFO $ 55274 $ 50,373
Adjusted for:

Accelerated vesting of share-based compensation 293 —

Write-off of debt costs due to repayment of debt prior to maturity 882 —
AFFO 56,449 50,373
AFFO attributable to noncontrolling interests in other consolidated partnerships (47) (42)
Allocation of AFFO to participating securities (581) (560)
AFFO available to common shareholders and noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership $ 55,821 § 49,771
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.:
Weighted average common shares outstanding ()@ 100,056 99,775
Dilutive adjusted funds from operations per share $ 056 §$ 0.50
Tanger Properties Limited Partnership:
Weighted average Operating Partnership units outstanding 100,056 99,775
Dilutive adjusted funds from operations per unit $ 056 $ 0.50
(1) Includes the dilutive effect of options, restricted common shares not considered participating securities, and notional
(2) Zr;gimes the Class A common limited partnership units of the Operating Partnership held by the noncontrolling interest are exchanged for common shares of the

Company.
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Same Center Net Operating Income - Cash Basis

We present Same Center Net Operating Income - Cash Basis (“Same Center NOI - Cash Basis”) as a supplemental measure of our performance. We define
Same Center NOI - Cash Basis as total operating revenues less property operating expenses for the properties that were operational for the entire portion of
both comparable reporting periods and which were not acquired, renovated or subject to a material non-recurring event, such as a natural disaster, during the
comparable reporting periods. Same Center NOI - Cash Basis also excludes termination fees and non-cash adjustments including straight-line rent, net above
and below market rent amortization and gains or losses on the sale of outparcels recognized during the periods presented.

Same Center NOI - Cash Basis is used by industry analysts, investors and management to measure operating performance of our properties because it
provides a performance measure directly related to the revenues and expenses involved in owning and operating real estate assets and provides a perspective
not immediately apparent from net income or FFO. Because Same Center NOI - Cash Basis excludes properties developed, redeveloped, acquired and sold; as
well as non-cash adjustments, gains or losses on the sale of outparcels and termination rents; it highlights operating trends such as occupancy levels, rental
rates and operating costs on properties that were operational for both comparable periods. Other REITs may use different methodologies for calculating Same
Center Net Operating Income, and accordingly, our Same Center NOI - Cash Basis may not be comparable to other REITs.

Same Center NOI - Cash Basis should not be viewed as an alternative measure of our financial performance since it does not reflect the operations of our entire
portfolio, nor does it reflect the impact of general and administrative expenses, acquisition-related expenses, interest expense, depreciation and amortization
costs, other non-property income and losses, and the level of capital expenditures and leasing costs necessary to maintain the operating performance of our
properties, or trends in development and construction activities which are significant economic costs and activities that could materially impact our results from
operations.

Below is a reconciliation of income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures to Same Center NOI - Cash Basis (in thousands):

Three months ended

March 31,
2016 2015
Same Center Net Operating Income - Cash Basis
Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures $ 25,118 $ 33,843
Interest expense 14,884 13,089
Gain on sale of assets and interests in unconsolidated entities (4,887) (13,726)
Other nonoperating income (expense) (316) (306)
Operating income 34,799 32,900
Adjusted to exclude:
Depreciation and amortization 26,567 23,989
Other non-property income and losses (264) (436)
General and administrative expenses 11,565 11,305
Non-cash adjustments and termination rents (1,477) (1,468)
Non-same center NOI @) (5,558) (3,452)
Same Center Net Operating Income - Cash Basis $ 65,632 $ 62,838
1) Non-cash items include straight-line rent, net above and below market rent amortization and gains or losses on outparcel
2) SEilgiaed from Same Center NOI - Cash Basis: Foxwoods outlet center, which opened in May of 2015; Grand Rapids outlet center, which opened in July of 2015;

Southaven outlet center, which opened in November 2015; Kittery | & II, Tuscola and West Branch outlet centers, which were sold in September 2015; Barstow
outlet center, which was sold in October 2015; and Fort Myers outlet center, which was sold in January 2016.
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ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK

The majority of our leases contain provisions designed to mitigate the impact of inflation. Such provisions include clauses for the escalation of base rent and
clauses enabling us to receive percentage rentals based on tenants' gross sales (above predetermined levels) which generally increase as prices rise. Most of
the leases require the tenant to pay their share of property operating expenses, including common area maintenance, real estate taxes, insurance and
advertising and promotion, thereby reducing exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

While we believe outlet stores will continue to be a profitable and fundamental distribution channel for many brand name manufacturers, some retail formats are
more successful than others. As typical in the retail industry, certain tenants have closed, or will close, certain stores by terminating their lease prior to its
natural expiration or as a result of filing for protection under bankruptcy laws.

Due to the relatively short-term nature of our tenants' leases, a significant portion of the leases in our portfolio come up for renewal each year. As of January 1,
2016, we had approximately 1.4 million square feet, or 12% of our consolidated portfolio at that time, coming up for renewal during 2016. During the first three
months of 2016, we renewed approximately 762,000 square feet of this space at a 18% increase in the average base rental rate compared to the expiring rate.
We also re-tenanted approximately 185,000 square feet at a 32% increase in the average base rental rate. In addition, we continue to attract and retain
additional tenants. However, there can be no assurance that we can achieve similar increases in base rental rates. In addition, if we were unable to
successfully renew or release a significant amount of this space on favorable economic terms, the loss in rent could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

Our outlet centers typically include well-known, national, brand name companies. By maintaining a broad base of well-known tenants and a geographically
diverse portfolio of properties located across the United States, we believe we reduce our operating and leasing risks. No one tenant (including affiliates)
accounts for more than 8% of our square feet or 6% of our combined base and percentage rental revenues. Accordingly, although we can give no assurance,
we do not expect any material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition as a result of leases to be renewed or stores to be released.
Occupancy at our consolidated centers was 97% as of both March 31, 2016 and 2015.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices, such as interest rates. We may periodically enter into certain interest rate protection and interest rate swap agreements to effectively convert existing
floating rate debt to a fixed rate basis. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We are also exposed
to foreign currency risk on investments in outlet centers that are located in Canada. Our currency exposure is concentrated in the Canadian Dollar. We have
typically held distributions of net cash flow from our Canadian joint ventures in Canadian Dollars in order to efficiently reinvest such amounts as needed to fund
future Canadian development activities. Due to the amount of ongoing Canadian development, cash held in Canadian Dollars has not typically been held for
long periods of time, nor has it been significant. We believe this strategy has mitigated some of the risk of our initial investment and our exposure to changes in
foreign currencies. While we do not intend to maintain a substantial amount of cash in Canadian Dollars in the long-term, the amount of Canadian Dollars we
hold may become more significant if development activity in Canada subsides. Any funds we hold in Canadian Dollars which are neither reinvested in additional
Canadian development or exchanged for US Dollars subject us to the risk of currency fluctuations, as we generally do not hedge currency translation
exposures.
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In October 2013, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with notional amounts totaling $150.0 million to reduce our floating rate debt exposure. The
interest rate swap agreements fix the base LIBOR rate at an average of 1.30% and mature in August 2018. The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements
represents the estimated receipts or payments that would be made to terminate the agreement. As of March 31, 2016, the fair value of these contracts is a
liability of $2.0 million. The fair value is based on dealer quotes, considering current interest rates, remaining term to maturity and our credit standing.

As of March 31, 2016, approximately 43% of our outstanding debt had variable rates, excluding variable rate debt with interest rate protection agreements in
place, and therefore were subject to market fluctuations. An increase in the LIBOR rate of 100 basis points would result in an increase of approximately $6.4
million in interest expense on an annual basis. The information presented herein is merely an estimate and has limited predictive value. As a result, the
ultimate effect upon our operating results of interest rate fluctuations will depend on the interest rate exposures that arise during the period, our hedging
strategies at that time and future changes in the level of interest rates.

The estimated fair value and recorded value of our debt consisting of senior unsecured notes, unsecured term loans, secured mortgages and unsecured lines of
credit were as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Fair value of debt $ 1,556,139 $ 1,615,833
Recorded value of debt $ 1,475,668 $ 1,551,924

A 100 basis point increase from prevailing interest rates at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 would result in a decrease in fair value of total debt of
approximately $51.4 million and $50.3 million, respectively. With the exception of the unsecured term loan and unsecured lines of credit, that have variable rates
and considered at market value, fair values of the senior notes and mortgage loans are determined using discounted cash flow analysis with an interest rate or
credit spread similar to that of current market borrowing arrangements. Because the Company's senior unsecured notes are publicly traded with limited trading
volume, these instruments are classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy. In contrast, mortgage loans are classified as Level 3 given the unobservable inputs utilized
in the valuation. Considerable judgment is necessary to develop estimated fair values of financial instruments. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are
not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on the disposition of the financial instruments.

In April 2016, we entered into four separate interest rate swap agreements, effective April 13, 2016, that fix the base LIBOR rate at an average of 1.03% on
notional amounts totaling $175.0 million through January 1, 2021.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. Controls and Procedures

The Company's management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of March 31, 2016. Based
on this evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have concluded the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of March 31, 2016. There were no changes to the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2016,
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Tanger Properties Limited Partnership Controls and Procedures

The management of the Operating Partnership's general partner carried out an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Vice-
President and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Operating Partnership's general partner, of the effectiveness of the Operating Partnership's
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of March 31, 2016. Based on this evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer of the Operating Partnership's general partner, and the Vice-President and Treasurer of the Operating Partnership's general partner, have
concluded the Operating Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2016. There were no changes to the Operating
Partnership's internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2016, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company and the Operating Partnership are, from time to time, engaged in a variety of legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business.
Although the results of these legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the final outcome of such proceedings will not
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the "Risk Factors" section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Share Repurchases

For certain restricted common shares that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 we withheld shares with value equivalent to the
employees' minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes, and remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. The

total number of shares withheld upon vesting was 60,382 and 30,578 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was based on
the value of the restricted common shares on the vesting date as determined by our closing share price on the day prior to the vesting date.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit Number

Exhibit Descriptions

10.1*
10.2

12.1*

12.2¢

31.1%

31.2*

31.3*

31.4*

32.1*

32.2*

32.3*

32.4*

101

Form of 2016 Outperformance Plan Notional Unit Award agreement.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 13, 2016 between Tanger Properties Limited
Partnership and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (Incorporated by
reference to the exhibits to the Company’s Form 8-K dated April 15, 2016).

Company's Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Operating Partnership's Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

The following financial statements from Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties Limited Partnership's dual
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited), (iii) Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income
(unaudited), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity (unaudited), (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited), and (vi)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

DATE: May 4, 2016

TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC.
By: /sl Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
By: TANGER GP TRUST, its sole general partner
By: /sl Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Vice President and Treasurer (principle financial officer)
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit Number Exhibit Descriptions

10.1* Form of 2016 Outperformance Plan Notional Unit Award agreement.

10.2 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 13, 2016 between Tanger Properties Limited
Partnership and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (Incorporated by
reference to the exhibits to the Company’s Form 8-K dated April 15, 2016).

12.1* Company's Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

12.2* Operating Partnership's Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

31.1* Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

31.2* Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

31.3* Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

31.4* Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

32.1* Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

32.2** Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.

32.3** Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

32.4** Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes -
Oxley Act of 2002 for Tanger Properties Limited Partnership.

101 The following financial statements from Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties Limited Partnership's dual
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited), (iii) Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive income
(unaudited), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity (unaudited), (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited), and (vi)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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EXHIBIT 10.1

TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC.

NOTIONAL UNIT
AWARD AGREEMENT
Name of Grantee: (the “Grantee”)
No. of Notional Units: 4450
Grant Date: February 9, 2016 (the “Grant Date”)
RECITALS

The Grantee is an employee of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc., a North Carolina corporation (the “Company”).

The Company has adopted the Incentive Award Plan of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. and Tanger Properties L.P. (Amended and
Restated as of April 4, 2014), as amended (the “Plan”) to provide additional incentives to the Company’s employees and directors. This award
agreement (this “Agreement”) evidences an award to the Grantee under the Plan (the “Award”), which is subject to the terms and conditions
set forth herein.

The Plan permits the award of Performance Awards and the Company wishes to award Performance Awards in the form of Notional
Units.

The Grantee was selected by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) to receive the Award and, effective as of the Grant Date,
the Company issued to the Grantee the number of Notional Units set forth above.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Grantee agree as follows:

L Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein without definitions shall have the meanings given to those terms in the Plan. In
addition, as used herein:

“Cause” means (a) the Grantee causing material harm to the Company or any Subsidiary or affiliate thereof through a material act of
dishonesty in the performance of his or her duties for the Company or any Subsidiary or affiliate thereof, (b) the Grantee’s conviction of a
felony involving moral turpitude, fraud or embezzlement, or (c) the Grantee’s willful failure to perform the material duties of the Grantee’s
employment (other than failure due to Disability); provided that, if the Employment Agreement includes a different definition of “Cause,” the
definition in the Employment Agreement shall be incorporated by reference herein and supersede the definition in this Section 1.

3

‘Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in the Plan. In addition, if a Change in Control constitutes a payment event with respect
to the Award, and the Award provides for the deferral of compensation and is subject to Section 409A of the Code (together with any
Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance that may be issued after the date hereof, “Section 409A”), the transaction
or event described in the Change in Control definition set forth in the Plan must also constitute a “change in control event,” as defined in
Department of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5) to the extent required by Section 409A.
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“CIC Minimum Return to Shareholders” shall mean the amount equal to the product of (a) the Minimum Total Return to Shareholders
and (b) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days from the Effective Date to and including the date of the Change in Control and
the denominator of which is the number of days during the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the Measurement Date.

“Common Shares” means the Company’s common shares, par value $0.01 per share, either currently existing or authorized hereafter.

“Common Share Price” means, as of a particular date, the highest twenty (20) consecutive trading day trailing average of the Fair
Market Value within the ninety (90) day period ending on, and including, such date (or, if such date is not a trading day, the most recent
trading day immediately preceding such date); provided that if any of such trading days is the ex-dividend date for a dividend or other
distribution on the Common Shares, then the Fair Market Value for each trading day prior to the ex-dividend date shall be adjusted and shall
equal the Fair Market Value on each such trading day (prior to the adjustment herein) divided by (i) the sum of (A) one and (B) the per share
amount of the dividend or other distribution declared to which such ex-dividend date relates divided by the Fair Market Value on the ex-
dividend date for such dividend or other distribution; and, provided, further, that if such date is the date upon which a Change in Control
(within the meaning of Section 1.6(a) or (c) of the Plan) occurs, the Common Share Price as of such date shall be equal to the fair market value
in cash, as determined by the Committee, of the total consideration paid or payable in the transaction resulting in such Change in Control for
one Common Share.

“Disability” means the Grantee’s inability through physical or mental illness or other cause to perform any of the material duties
assigned to him or her by the Company or a Subsidiary or affiliate thereof for a period of ninety (90) days or more within any twelve (12)
consecutive calendar months; provided that, if the Employment Agreement includes a different definition of “Disability,” the definition in the
Employment Agreement shall be incorporated by reference herein and supersede the definition in this Section 1.

“Effective Date” means February 10, 2016.
“Effective Date Common Share Price” means $30.64.

“Employment Agreement” means, as of a particular date, the employment agreement by and between the Grantee and the Company or
a Subsidiary or affiliate thereof in effect as of that date, if any.

“55th Percentile” means in accordance with standard statistical methodology, for any applicable measurement period, the Total Return
to Shareholders which equals or exceeds the total return to shareholders of 55% of the REITs included in the Peer Group. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Committee may, upon consideration of the statistical distribution of the REITs included in the Peer Group within the full range
of total return to shareholders for the applicable measurement period, exercise its reasonable discretion to allow for issuance of Restricted
Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 3 (or Common Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 2(b)(iii)) on a
basis other than a strict mathematical calculation of the 55th Percentile. By way of illustration, if for the period the total return to shareholders
of a number of REITs included in the Peer Group is clustered within a narrow range such that the effect of the precise calculation of percentiles
is that issuance would not occur, the Committee could in its sole discretion conclude that issuance should nonetheless occur to
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the extent appropriate in light of all the circumstances, including the Company's Total Return to Shareholders performance relative to the
REITs included in the Peer Group taken as a whole.

“40th Percentile” means in accordance with standard statistical methodology, for any applicable measurement period, the Total Return
to Shareholders which equals or exceeds the total return to shareholders of 40% of the REITs included in the Peer Group. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Committee may, upon consideration of the statistical distribution of the REITs included in the Peer Group within the full range
of total return to shareholders for the applicable measurement period, exercise its reasonable discretion to allow for issuance of Restricted
Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 3 (or Common Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 2(b)(iii)) on a
basis other than a strict mathematical calculation of the 40th Percentile. By way of illustration, if for the period the total return to shareholders
of a number of REITs included in the Peer Group is clustered within a narrow range such that the effect of the precise calculation of percentiles
is that issuance would not occur, the Committee could in its sole discretion conclude that issuance should nonetheless occur to the extent
appropriate in light of all the circumstances, including the Company's Total Return to Shareholders performance relative to the REITSs included
in the Peer Group taken as a whole.

The Grantee shall have “Good Reason” to terminate his or her employment in the event of the Company’s material breach of the terms
of the Grantee’s employment; provided that (i) the Grantee provides written notice to the Company of the existence of the condition(s)
constituting Good Reason within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of any such condition(s), (ii) the Company has thirty (30) days after
receipt of such notice to remedy such condition(s) and (iii) if the Company fails to remedy the condition(s), the Grantee terminates his or her
employment for Good Reason within two (2) years following the initial existence of any condition constituting Good Reason; provided,
further, that, if the Employment Agreement includes a different definition of “Good Reason,” to the extent a Termination of Employment by
the Grantee for Good Reason thereunder would be an “involuntary separation from service” (as defined in Section 409A), the definition in the
Employment Agreement shall be incorporated by reference herein and supersede the definition in this Section 1.

“Maximum Total Return to Shareholders” means Total Return to Shareholders equal to 35%.
“Measurement Date” means February 9, 2019.
“Minimum Total Return to Shareholders” means Total Return to Shareholders equal to 18%.

“Notional Unit” means a Performance Award granted pursuant to the Plan which entitles the Grantee to the opportunity to be receive
Restricted Shares on or after the Share Issuance Date as set forth herein.

“Notional Unit Absolute Conversion Ratio” means (a) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to the Minimum Total
Return to Shareholders, 0.10, (b) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to the Target Total Return to Shareholders, 0.30, (¢) in
the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to or exceeds the Maximum Total Return to Shareholders, 0.50, and (d) in the event the
Total Return to Shareholders is (i) greater than the Minimum Total Return to Shareholders and less than the Target Total Return to
Shareholders, the Notional Unit Conversion Ratio will be pro-rated between 0.10 and 0.30 by linear interpolation and (ii) greater than the
Target Total Return to Shareholders and less than the Maximum Total Return to Shareholders, the Notional Unit
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Absolute Conversion Ratio will be pro-rated between 0.30 and 0.50 by linear interpolation (e.g., other than in the event of a Change in Control,
the Notional Unit Conversation Ratio will increase by approximately 0.02353 for each percentage point by which the Total Return to
Shareholders exceeds the Minimum Total Return to Shareholders up to the Maximum Total Return to Shareholders).

“Notional Unit Relative Conversion Ratio” means (a) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to the 40th Percentile, 0.10,
(b) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to the 55th Percentile, 0.30, (c) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is equal
to or exceeds the 70th Percentile, 0.50, and (d) in the event the Total Return to Shareholders is (i) greater than the 40th Percentile and less than
the 55th Percentile, the Notional Unit Relative Conversion Ratio will be pro-rated between 0.10 and 0.30 by linear interpolation and (ii) greater
than the 55th Percentile and less than the 70th Percentile, the Notional Unit Relative Conversion Ratio will be pro-rated between 0.30 and 0.50
by linear interpolation (e.g., other than in the event of a Change in Control, the Notional Unit Conversation Ratio will increase by 0.01333 for
each percentile point by which the Total Return to Shareholders exceeds the 40th Percentile up to the 70th Percentile).

“Peer Group” means the peer group of companies set forth on Exhibit A; provided that if a constituent company(s) in the Peer Group
ceases to be actively traded, due, for example, to merger or bankruptcy, or the Committee otherwise reasonably determines that it is no longer
suitable for the purposes of this Agreement, then the Committee in its reasonable discretion shall select a comparable company to be added to
the Peer Group for purposes of making the Total Return to Shareholders comparison required by Sections 2(b)(iii) and 3(b) meaningful and
consistent across the relevant measurement period.

“Restricted Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).

“70th Percentile” means in accordance with standard statistical methodology, for any applicable measurement period, the Total Return
to Shareholders which equals or exceeds the total return to shareholders of 70% of the REITs included in the Peer Group. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Committee may, upon consideration of the statistical distribution of the REITs included in the Peer Group within the full range
of total return to shareholders for the applicable measurement period, exercise its reasonable discretion to allow for issuance of Restricted
Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 3 (or Common Shares to be granted as part of the Award under Section 2(b)(iii)) on a
basis other than a strict mathematical calculation of the 70th Percentile. By way of illustration, if for the period the total return to shareholders
of a number of REITs included in the Peer Group is clustered within a narrow range such that the effect of the precise calculation of percentiles
is that issuance would not occur, the Committee could in its sole discretion conclude that issuance should nonetheless occur to the extent
appropriate in light of all the circumstances, including the Company's Total Return to Shareholders performance relative to the REITSs included
in the Peer Group taken as a whole.

“Share Issuance Date” means the earlier of (a) February 15, 2019 and (b) the date upon which a Change in Control shall occur.

“Target Total Return to Shareholders” means Total Return to Shareholders equal to 26.5%.

“Total Return to Shareholders” means the percentage appreciation in the Common Share Price from the Effective Date to the Valuation
Date, determined by dividing (a) the difference obtained by subtracting (1) the Effective Date Common Share Price, from (2) the Common
Share Price on the
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Valuation Date plus all dividends paid on a Common Share from the Effective Date to the Valuation Date by (b) the Effective Date Common
Share Price. Additionally, as set forth in, and pursuant to, Section 6, appropriate adjustments to the Total Return to Shareholders shall be made
to take into account all stock dividends, stock splits, reverse stock splits and the other events set forth in Section 6 that occur between the
Effective Date and the Valuation Date.

“Valuation Date” means the earlier of (a) the Measurement Date and (b) the date upon which a Change in Control shall occur.
2. Notional Unit Award.

(a) Award. In consideration of the Grantee’s past and/or continued employment with or service to the Company and/or a
Subsidiary or affiliate thereof and for other good and valuable consideration, effective as of the Grant Date, the Grantee is hereby granted an
Award consisting of the number of Notional Units set forth above, which will be subject to (i) forfeiture or conversion into a right to receive
unrestricted Common Shares or restricted Common Shares (such restricted Common Shares, “Restricted Shares”) to the extent provided in
Sections 2 and 3, and (ii) the terms and conditions otherwise set forth in the Plan and this Agreement.

(b) Effect of Termination of Employment and Change in Control.

)] Except as provided in Section 2(b)(iii), if, prior to the Share Issuance Date, a Termination of Employment of
the Grantee occurs for any reason other than those reasons described in Section 2(b)(ii), then all Notional Units shall automatically and
immediately be forfeited by the Grantee without any action by any other person or entity and for no consideration whatsoever, and the Grantee
and any 1beneﬁciary or personal representative thereof, as the case may be, will be entitled to no payments or benefits with respect to the
Notional Units.

(ii) Except as provided in Section 2(b)(iii), if, prior to the Share Issuance Date, a Termination of Employment of
the Grantee (1) without Cause by the Company, (2) with Good Reason by the Grantee, or (3) due to the Grantee’s death or Disability, occurs,
the Grantee shall be entitled on the Share Issuance Date to the number of Common Shares equal to the number of Restricted Shares he or she
would have received pursuant to Section 3(b) as if no Termination of Employment of the Grantee had occurred, multiplied by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the number of days from the Effective Date to and including the date of Termination of Employment of the Grantee, and
the denominator of which is the total number of days from the Effective Date to and including the Measurement Date, which Common Shares
shall be fully vested upon issuance. On the Share Issuance Date, all Notional Units shall automatically and immediately be forfeited by the
Grantee without any action by any other person or entity and for no other consideration whatsoever, and the Grantee and any beneficiary or
personal representative thereof, as the case may be, will be entitled to no further payments or benefits with respect to the Notional Units.

(iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, on the date of a Change in Control occurring on or prior to the
Measurement Date, subject to the Grantee’s continued employment with the Company from the Grant Date through the date of such Change in
Control, the Company shall issue to the Grantee, immediately prior to such Change in Control, that number of Common Shares (which
Common Shares shall be fully vested upon issuance) equal to the sum of the following:
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(1) If, as of the date of such Change in Control, the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to or greater than the CIC
Minimum Total Return to Shareholders, the number of Notional Units held by the Grantee on the Share Issuance Date
multiplied by the Notional Unit Absolute Conversion Ratio (and, for purposes of determining the Notional Unit Absolute
Conversion Ratio, the Target Total Return to Shareholders and Maximum Total Return to Shareholders shall be adjusted
in the same manner as Minimum Return to Shareholders is adjusted in determining the CIC Minimum Return to
Shareholders); plus

(2) If, as of the date of such Change in Control, the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to or greater than the 40th
Percentile, the number of Notional Units held by the Grantee on the Share Issuance Date multiplied by the Notional Unit
Relative Conversion Ratio; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, if, as of the date of such Change in Control, the
Total Return to Shareholders is less than the CIC Minimum Total Return to Shareholders and less than the 40th
Percentile, the Grantee shall not receive any Common Shares pursuant to this Section 2(b)(iii). The number of Common
Shares that the Grantee shall be entitled to pursuant to this Section 2(b) (iii) shall be determined by the Committee in its
sole good faith discretion. In consideration for the eligibility to receive Common Shares pursuant to this Section 2(b)(iii)
(and regardless of whether or not the Grantee actually received Common Shares), as of the date of the Change in Control,
all Notional Units shall automatically and immediately be forfeited by the Grantee without any action by any other person
or entity and for no other consideration whatsoever, and the Grantee and any beneficiary or personal representative
thereof, as the case may be, will be entitled to no further payments or benefits with respect to the Notional Units.

3. Restricted Shares.

(a) Grant of Restricted Shares. Subject to Section 3(f), on the Share Issuance Date (unless such date is the date upon which a
Change in Control shall occur), the Company shall, subject to the Grantee’s continued employment with the Company from the Grant Date
through the Share Issuance Date, deliver to the Grantee (or any transferee permitted under Section 5) a number of Restricted Shares (either by
delivering one or more certificates for such shares or by entering such shares in book entry form, as determined by the Company in its sole
discretion) equal to the number of Restricted Shares that are issuable pursuant to Section 3(b). Upon the Share Issuance Date, all Notional
Units shall automatically and immediately be forfeited by the Grantee without any action by any other person or entity and for no other
consideration whatsoever, and the Grantee and any beneficiary or personal representative thereof, as the case may be, will be entitled to no
further payments or benefits with respect to the Notional Units. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event Restricted Shares cannot be issued
pursuant to Section 3(f)(i), then the Restricted Shares shall be issued pursuant to the preceding sentence at the earliest date at which the
Committee reasonably anticipates that Restricted Shares can again be issued in accordance with Section 3(f)(i).

(b) Number of Restricted Shares. The number of Restricted Shares that shall be granted pursuant to the Notional Units shall be
determined based on the Total Return to Shareholders on the Valuation Date and shall be equal to the sum of the following:
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(1) If, as of the Valuation Date, the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to or greater than the Minimum Total Return
to Shareholders, the number of Notional Units held by the Grantee on the Share Issuance Date multiplied by the Notional Unit Absolute
Conversion Ratio; plus

(i) If, as of the Valuation Date, the Total Return to Shareholders is equal to or greater than the 40th Percentile, the
number of Notional Units held by the Grantee on the Share Issuance Date multiplied by the Notional Unit Relative Conversion Ratio; provided
that, for the avoidance of doubt, if, as of the Valuation Date, the Total Return to Shareholders is less than the Minimum Total Return to
Shareholders and less than the 40th Percentile, the Grantee shall not receive any Restricted Shares pursuant to Section 3(a). The number of
Restricted Shares that the Grantee shall be entitled to pursuant to the Notional Units shall be determined by the Committee in its sole good
faith discretion. The Grantee will not become entitled to Restricted Shares with respect to the Notional Units subject to this Agreement unless
and until the Committee determines the Total Return to Shareholders, the 40th Percentile, 55th Percentile and 70th Percentile. Upon such
determination by the Committee and subject to the provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, the Grantee shall be entitled to a number of
Restricted Shares equal to the number that is determined pursuant to this Section 3(b).

(c) Vesting of Restricted Shares. Except as provided in Section 3(d), the Restricted Shares granted on the Share Issuance Date
as provided in this Section 3 shall vest as follows:

(i) 50% of such Restricted Shares shall vest immediately on
February 15, 2019; and

(i) 50% of such Restricted Shares shall vest on February 15, 2020.

(d) Effect of Termination of Employment.

(1) If, on or after the Share Issuance Date, a Termination of Employment of the Grantee occurs for any reason other
than those reasons described in Section 3(d)(ii), then all Restricted Shares that remain unvested at such time shall automatically and
immediately be forfeited by the Grantee without any action by any other person or entity and for no consideration whatsoever, and the Grantee
and any beneficiary or personal representative thereof, as the case may be, will be entitled to no payments or benefits with respect to the
Restricted Shares.

(i1) If, on or after the Share Issuance Date, a Termination of Employment of the Grantee (1) without Cause by the
Company, (2) with Good Reason by the Grantee, or (3) due to the Grantee’s death or Disability, occurs, then all of the Grantee’s Restricted
Shares shall automatically and immediately vest.

(e) Rights as Shareholder. The Grantee shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a shareholder of the Company,
including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to dividends, in respect of the Notional Units or any Restricted Shares underlying the
Notional Units and deliverable hereunder unless and until such Restricted Shares have been issued to the Grantee, and held of record by the
Grantee (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company).

(f) Conditions on Delivery of Restricted Shares. The Restricted Shares deliverable hereunder, or any portion thereof, may be
either previously authorized but unissued Common Shares or
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issued Common Shares which have then been reacquired by the Company. Such Common Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. The
Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any Common Shares issuable hereunder (i) if such issuance would violate any applicable law,
rule or regulation and (ii) prior to the receipt by the Company of payment of any applicable withholding tax, which may be in one or more of
the forms of consideration permitted under Section 3(g).

(g) Withholding and Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to
require payment by the Grantee of any sums required by applicable law to be withheld with respect to the grant of the Notional Units or the
grant or vesting of the Restricted Shares related thereto. Such payment shall be made by deduction from other compensation payable to the
Grantee or in such other form of consideration acceptable to the Company which may, in the sole discretion of the Committee, include:

(i) Cash or check;

(i1) Surrender of Common Shares held for such period of time as may be required by the Committee in order to avoid
adverse accounting consequences and having a Fair Market Value on the date of delivery equal to the minimum amount required to be
withheld by statute; or

(iii) Other property acceptable to the Committee.

The Company shall not be obligated to deliver any new certificate representing the Restricted Shares to the Grantee or the Grantee’s legal
representative or enter such Restricted Shares in book entry form unless and until the Grantee or the Grantee’s legal representative shall have
paid or otherwise satisfied in full the amount of all federal, state and local taxes applicable to the taxable income of the Grantee resulting from
the grant of the Notional Units or the grant or vesting of Restricted Shares related thereto.

4, Dividends.

(a) Upon the grant of Common Shares pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii), the Grantee shall be entitled to receive, for each Common
Share granted, an amount equal to the per share amount of all dividends declared with respect to Common Shares with a record date on or after
the Effective Date to and including the date of the Termination of Employment of the Grantee. After the date of grant of the Common Shares
pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii), the holder of such Common Shares shall be entitled to receive dividends in the same manner as dividends are paid
to all other holders of Common Shares.

(b) Upon the grant of Common Shares pursuant to Section 2(b)(iii), the Grantee shall be entitled to receive, for each Common
Share granted, an amount equal to the per share amount of all dividends declared with respect to Common Shares with a record date on or after
the Effective Date to and including the date of the Change in Control. After the date of grant of the Common Shares pursuant to Section 2(b)
(iii), the holder of such Common Shares shall be entitled to receive dividends in the same manner as dividends are paid to all other holders of
Common Shares.

(¢) Upon grant of the Restricted Shares pursuant to Section 3(a), the Grantee shall be entitled to receive, for each of the
Restricted Shares (whether vested or unvested), an amount in cash equal to the per share amount of all dividends declared with respect to the
Common Shares with a record date on or after the Effective Date and before the Share Issuance Date (other than those with respect to which an
adjustment was made pursuant to Section 6).After the Share Issuance Date, the holder of
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Restricted Shares (whether vested or unvested) shall be entitled to receive the per share amount of any dividends declared with respect to
Common Shares for each Restricted Share (whether vested or unvested) held on the record date of each such dividend and each such dividend
shall be paid in the same manner as dividends are paid to the holders of Common Shares.

(d) Except as provided in this Section 4, the Grantee shall not be entitled to receive any payments in lieu of or in connection
with dividends with respect to any Notional Units and/or Restricted Shares.

5. Restrictions on Transfer. The Notional Units may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, given away or in
any other manner disposed of, encumbered, whether voluntarily or by operation of law (each such action, “Transfer”). The Restricted Shares
may not be Transferred, unless and until such Restricted Shares have been granted and have fully vested. Neither the Notional Units, the
Restricted Shares nor any interest or right therein shall be liable for the debts, contracts or engagements of the Grantee or his or her successors
in interest or shall be subject to disposition by transfer, alienation, anticipation, pledge, encumbrance, assignment or any other means whether
such disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law by judgment, levy, attachment, garnishment or any other legal or equitable
proceedings (including bankruptcy), and any attempted disposition thereof shall be null and void and of no force or etfect, except to the extent
that such disposition is permitted by the preceding sentence.

6. Changes in Capital Structure. In addition to any actions by the Committee permitted under Section 10.3 of the Plan, if (a) the
Company shall at any time be involved in a merger, consolidation, dissolution, liquidation, reorganization, exchange of shares, sale of all or
substantially all of the assets or shares of the Company or a transaction similar thereto, (b) any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split,
stock combination, reclassification, recapitalization, significant repurchases of shares or other similar change in the capital structure of the
Company, or any distribution to holders of Common Shares other than regular cash dividends, shall occur, or (c) any other event shall occur
for which, in its sole discretion, the Committee determines action by way of adjusting the terms of the Award is necessary or appropriate, then
the Committee shall take such action as in its sole discretion shall be necessary or appropriate to maintain the Grantee’s rights hereunder so that
they are substantially proportionate to the rights existing under this Agreement prior to such event, including, without limitation, adjustments in
the number and/or terms and conditions of the Notional Units or Restricted Shares, Common Share Price, Total Return to Shareholders and
payments to be made pursuant to Section 4. The Grantee acknowledges that the Notional Units and Restricted Shares are subject to
amendment, modification and termination in certain events as provided in this Section 6 and Section 10.3 of the Plan.

7. Miscellaneous.

(a) Administration. The Committee shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules for
the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret, amend or revoke any such rules. All
actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Committee in good faith shall be final and binding upon the Grantee, the
Company and all other interested persons. No member of the Committee or the Board shall be personally liable for any action, determination
or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan, this Agreement, the Notional Units or the Restricted Shares.
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(b) Amendments. To the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreement may be amended, modified, suspended or terminated at
any time and from time to time by the Committee or the Board; provided that, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, any such amendment,
modification, suspension or termination that adversely affects the rights of the Grantee in a material way must be consented to by the Grantee
to be effective as against him or her.

(¢) Incorporation of Plan. The provisions of the Plan are hereby incorporated by reference as if set forth herein. If and to the
extent that any provision contained in this Agreement is inconsistent with the Plan, the Plan shall govern.

(d) Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement may be invalidated for any reason by a
court, any provision so invalidated will be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the remaining provisions hereof will
continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

(e) Governing Law. This Agreement is made under, and will be construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of North
Carolina, without giving effect to the principle of conflict of laws of such State or any other jurisdiction.

(f) No Obligation to Continue Position as an Employee. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary or affiliate thereof is
obligated by or as a result of this Agreement to continue to have the Grantee as an employee and this Agreement shall not interfere in any way
with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary or affiliate thereof to terminate the Grantee as an employee at any time, except to the extent
expressly provided otherwise in a written agreement between the Company or a Subsidiary or affiliate thereof and the Grantee.

(g) Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company in care of the Secretary of the Company at its
principal place of business, and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such
other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing. Any notice shall be deemed duly given when sent via email
or when sent by certified mail (return receipt requested) and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly
maintained by the United States Postal Service.

(h) Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of
this Agreement.

(1) Conformity to Securities Laws.

(1) The Grantee will use his or her best efforts to comply with all applicable securities laws. The Grantee acknowledges
that the Plan and this Agreement are intended to conform to the extent necessary with all provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and the Exchange Act and any and all regulations and rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder, and state
securities laws and regulations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Plan and this Agreement shall be administered, and the
Notional Units and/or Restricted Shares shall be granted, only in such a manner as to conform to such laws, rules and regulations. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, the Plan and this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such laws, rules and
regulations.

10

NY\7553013.2



(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, if the Grantee is subject to Section 16 of the
Exchange Act, the Plan, this Agreement, the Notional Units, and the Restricted Shares shall be subject to any additional limitations set forth in
any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including any amendment to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act) that are
requirements for the application of such exemptive rule. To the extent permitted by applicable law, this Agreement shall be deemed amended
to the extent necessary to conform to such applicable exemptive rule.

(§) Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or multiple assignees,
and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set
forth in Section 5, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Grantee and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

(k) Entire Agreement. The Plan and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the Grantee with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(1) Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A and, to the extent applicable,
this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A. However, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this
Agreement, if at any time the Committee determines that the Notional Units and/or the Restricted Shares (or any portion thereof) may be
subject to Section 409A, the Committee shall have the right in its sole discretion (without any obligation to do so or to indemnify the Grantee
or any other person for failure to do so) to adopt such amendments to the Plan or this Agreement, or adopt other policies and procedures
(including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, as the Committee determines are necessary
or appropriate either for the Notional Units and/or Restricted Shares to be exempt from the application of Section 409A or to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A. No provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed to transfer any liability for failure to comply
with the requirements of Section 409A from the Grantee or any other individual to the Company or any of its affiliates, employees or agents.

(m) Limitation on the Grantee’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as herein provided.
This Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable and shall not be construed as creating a
trust. Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets. The Grantee shall have only the rights of a general
unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the Notional Units and the
Restricted Shares, and rights no greater than the right to receive Common Shares as a general unsecured creditor with respect to Notional Units
and the Restricted Shares, as and when payable hereunder.

(n) Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if
the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.
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[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the first day written above.

TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC.

By:

Name:
GRANTEE
Name:

Signature Page for Notional Unit Award Agreement



EXHIBIT A
List of Peer Group

[see attached)



ARRUS Acadia Reaity Trust NYSE NY  REIT & Property Company
ADCUS Agree Reaity Corp. NYSE Sicomfield Hilis M REIT & Property Company
Aneus Aimeo NYsE Denver CO  REM& Property Compuny
ALX-US Alexanders Inc. NYSE Paramus N2 RET & Praperty Company
AREUS Alexandria Real Estate NYSE Pasadena G4 REIT & Property Company
RESIUS Amtizourcs Resigentiai Corp. NYSE Cnristiansted Vi REM & Property Company

Tus Amercan Assets Trust Inc. rYsE San Die CA  REIT & Property Company
Accus American Campus Gemmunities vse Austin T®  RET & Propery Company
AFCOUS American Farmiand Go. MNYSE MKT  New York MY RET & Property Cornpary
AMH-US Amarican Homes 4 Rent NYSE Agours Hills CA  RET& Property Company
ARPUS American Residential Fpis rvsE Scouscale AZ  REIT& Property Company
AMT.RET-US American Tower Gar. (REM NYSE soston MA  REIT & Proparty Gompany

'S Aople Hospitality REIT Inc. NYSE Richmong VA REIT & Praparty Company

AHHUS Armada Hofflar Propertios inc. NYSE Virginia Beach VA  REIT& Property Gompany
AHP-US Ashford Hospitality Pime Inc. NYSE Caies TX  RET & Property Company
AHT-US Ashford Hospltality Trust NYSE Dallas TX  REIT & Property Company

o AVB-US AvalonSay Communities lne. NYSE Arington VA REMT & Propeny Company
BMR-US BioMed Realty Trust ine. nvse San Diego CA REIT & Froperty Company
BRGUS Sluerock Residential Growth NYSE MK New York NY RET & Property Company
BXPUS Eoston Properties ine. NVSE @oston MA  REIT & Propany Company

- BbMnus Brandywine Realy Trust rvSE Radnor PA  RET & Property Gompany
ERx-US Brixmor Property Group Ine. rvsE Naw York MY RET & Propeny Company
BRT-US BRT Reaity Trust NYSE Great Neck NY  REIT & Property Company
cPT-US Camden Property Trust NYSE Houston TX  REIT & Property Company
coGus Sampus Crest Communities Inc NYSE Crarotte ME RET & Property Company
ccrus Care Capital Properties ne. rvse CShicasge L RET & Property Company
CTREUS CareTrust REIT Inc. NASDACQ San Clemente CA  RET & Property Company
eTrus CatenMark Timber Truat Ine. rveE Atiants QA RET& Property Cormpany
<BLUS CBL & Asscciates Properdes WYSE Chatancegs TN  RET & Propery Company

. coR-US Cedar Realty Trust Ina. NVSE Port washingon MY RET & Property Company
SCLOT-US Chatham Loaging Trust NYSE westPaim Beach  FL  RET & Property Company
cHEP-US Chesapeake Lodging Trust NYSE Annapolis MD  RET & Property Company
SMCTUS CIM Commersial Trust Corp. NASDAQ TX  RET & Property Gompany
. CIgus Gity Office REIT inc. NYSE TX  REIT & Property Cornpany *
SFR-US Coleny Starwood Homes NVSE AZ  REMT& Properny Company
oxpus Columbia Property Trust NYSE. GA  REIT & Propery Company
csaLus Communications Sales & Leasing  NASDAQ AR RET & Property Company
cHeT-US Cemmunity Heslthoare Trust Ino NYSE TN REIT & Proparty Company
cpor-uUSs Conger Hospitality Teast Ine. rASDAG NE  RET & Property Sompany
CORRUS CorEne gy Infrastructure Trust NYSE Hansses City MO RET & Propery Company
corUS CoreSite Reaty Gorp. nvsE Benvar CO  RET & Property Gompany
OFCUS Corporste Office Prope mies Tr NYSE Columbia MD  RET & Property Cormpany
cxV-US Corrections Corp. of America NYSE rashville TN RET & Property Company
cuzUS Cousins Properties inc. NYSE Avante GA REIT & Property Company
CCLRET-US Crown Castie Intl. (RET NYSE Houston TX RET & Property Company
cusEUS CubeSmart nNYSE Matvern PA  REIT & Property Company
coneEus SyrusOne NASDAQ Carroiten TX RET & Propenty Sompany
DCTUS DCT Industrial Trust ine, nNYSE Denver CO RET & Property Cormparny
DDR-US DDR Corp. NYSE Beachwoeod M RET & Propery Company
DRAUS DismondRock Hospitality Ge. rnysE sethesaa MD  RET & Property Gompany
DLR-US Digital ReaiTy Trust Inc. NYSE San Francisco CA  REIT & Propeny Company
DELUS Dougles Emmett Inc. nNYSE Santa Monica CA  REIT& Property Company
DREUS Duke Resnhy Core. NYSE Indianapolis N RET & Property Company
orfls DuPont Fabros Teshnology Inc. NYSE Washington DC__RET & Froperty Company.

.I SNL US REIT Equity Index Constituents
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SNL US REIT Equity Index Constituents - continued

Easte

1Ty
VWashington

T
Property Company

EastGroup Properties ine. NYSE Jmckaon Propemy Company
Educetian Realty Trust ino. NYSE Mermphin Propermy Company

Empire Stete RESITY Trust Ine., rYSE Mew Yark Fropemy Company

s EFR Properties NYSE Kansas City Propernty Company

EQIX REMT-US Equinix Inc. (REIT) NASDAG RaOwood City Property Combany
EOC-US EQuity Cormmonweaitn NYSE Shicage Propemy Company
ELsUS Equity LiteStyle Propartics NYSE Chicags Property Gompany
Eav.us Eauity One ne. NYSE Nomn Mimr Basen Propemy Company
Eor-Us SQuity RESIEE B! NYSE Chicage Fropery Coempany
E: = Essex Froperty Trust tnc. NYSE San Mateo Propemy Company
EXR-US Extrs Space Storase ine. NYSE Sar Lake City Froperty Company
FRLUS Farmiand Pactners Ine. NYSE Danver Property Company
FRT-US Fegeral Resity Investment Nyse Rockville Fronemy Gompany
FoHUS FolCor Lodging Trust inc. NYSE Iving Propery Company
rRuSs First Industrial Reaity Trust NYSE ChicmEo Propemy Comoany
FrRo-US First POtomac Reaity Trust NYSE Botnesas Proporty Company
FREVS.US First REIT of Mow Jersoy oTC Pink Hackensack C Propersy Company
FOPT.US Four Cormers Property Trust nNYSE i Vatley Propeny Company
FsPUs Franklin STest Pronemies NYSE MsT WakeTieid Froperty Company
aLFrUSs Gamingand Leisure Froperies NASDAG Wyemissing Propery Company
SaEPUS General Growth Propertieas ina. NYSE Cricage & Propery Company
GEG-US GEC Group Ine. NYSE Bocs Raton Property Sompany
GFYUS Gertty Reaity Corp. NYSE Jerieho Propery Company
GoOD-US Giagstone Commarcial Care. NASDAG Molean Proporty Company
LANDUS Gladstene Land Cors. NASGAS rMeLean Property Gompany
cEcs.us Gilonai Hestnears REMT iIno. ©OTC Pink Gresnwood Vilase Propary Company
SnLUSs Siobal Net Lease Nyss Now Yar FProporny Company
Gov-uUs Government Properties Inem Tr NYSE Newton Propemy Company
GRT-US Gramercy Property Trust Inc. NYSE Mew York Proparmy Company
avro-us Gyrodyne LLC : NASDAG Saint James il Property Company
nePUS HEP Ine. NYSE 1vine 5 Propety Sompany
HR-US Heaithoare Resity Trust Ino. MNYSE Nashville Propeny Company
HTA-US Healthcare Trust o America NYSE cnsdate Propery Gompany
HT-US mersna Mospitaity Trust NYSE Priadephia Propery Campany
HAW.US Highweosds Proparias ne. NvSE Ralslgn TNC  REIT & Property Company
HMG-US HMG/Coumiana Prose mies ne. MNYSE MKT Coconut Grove FL  REIT & Property Company
HETUS Hozpitality Properties Toast NYSE Newien MA  REIT & Propeny Company
HET-US Host Hoteis & Resores: revse Betnesan ME REIT & Propemy Company
HEPUS HUGSon PROINC Properties Ina, NYSE Los Angeies CA REIT & Property Company
TR Ingependence Realty Trust NG NYSE MIKT Philadeliphia FA  REIT & Property Company
HIFR.REIT-US INfraREIT Inc. (RE NYSE Oatas TX  REIT & Propery Company
IRC-U: InImng Real Estate Core. MNYSE Oak Brook nw REIT & Property Company
iHTUS InnSuites Hospitality Trust NYSE MIKT Phoeniz AZ  REIT & Property Company
IRET.OS Investors Real Estate Trost NYSE rinot NO REIT & Properdy Company
IRM-US Iron Meuntain inc. NYSE Bosion A REIT & Propety Gompany
STAR-US iStar ing, NYSE New York NY  REIT & Propety Company
KRC-US Kiiray Realty Corp. NYSE 1los Angales A REIT & Property Company
KIM-US Kimee Realty Cora. NveE New MHyde Park NY  REIT & Propery Company
HRG-US Hite Resty Groum Trust rySE IndiEnanotis N REIT & Property Company
LAMR.RET-US Lamar Adve rtising Ca. (RET) MNASDAQ Baten Reuge LA REIT & Property Gompany
LHOUS Lasaie Hotel Prope mies Y SE Bernesas MO RET A& Property Gompany
LR PUS LERINETON RSBty Trust NYSE NG YOrk NY  REIT & Propety Som pany
LET-US LiDery Property Trust NYSE Malvern PA REIT & Propermy Company
LTC-US LTC Properties Inc. NYSE westake Village CA REIT & Property Sompany
MAAUS (YN NYSE Memphis TN REIT & Property Gompany
Mac-us Mecerch Co. rvsE Sants Monics A REIT & Property Company

mE.T L




mE.T I
CONSULTING

CLUS Mack-Cali Reaity Carp. NYSE Edison NJ  REIT & Property Company
MEw.US MEOicE! PAOREMHIEs TrUST ING. rNYSE Birmingham AL REIT & Property Gompany
MHNR-US Monmouth Real Estate NYSE Freanoia Ny REIT & Property Company
MORE-US Monogram ResiGential Trust NYSE Plane T  REIT& Propery Company
NHLUS MNETOAD HESITN INVESors ING. NYSE Murfreesbore TR REIT & Property Company
NNNUS National Retail Properties nNvsE orande FL  REIT & Property Gormpany
NSAUS Notional Storage Affilintes Tr NYSE Greenwood Vilage CO  REIT & Praperty Comosny
SNR-US New Senior Investment Group rYSE New Yo NY  REIT & Property Cormpany
NYRT-US New York RET Inc. NYSE New Yorik NY  REIT & Property Gompany
MNXRT-US NexfPoint Resiagential Trust Inc NYSE Do las ™ REIT & Property Carmpany
NREUS NorthStar Realy Europe Corp. NYSE New York NY  REIT & Property Company
NRE-US NornStar Reany Finance Corp. NYSE New York NY REIT & Property Company
OHIUS Omegs Heakheare Investors Hunt Valley MO REIT & Property Company
oLP-US ©One Liberty Properties Ina. NYSE Great Neck NY  REIT & Property Company
ouUT.RET-US QUIFRONT Media Inc. (REIT) rNYSE New York NY REIT & Property Gomparny
PCFO-U! Pacific Office Properties Inc. orcas Honuiuu HI  REIT & Property Company
PGREUS Paramount Groun Inc. P NYSE New York NY  REIT & Property Company
PHRY-US Parkway Properties ina. NYSE Ortande FL REIT & Property Company
FEB-US Pebblebrook Hotel Trust ~NYsSE Bethesas MO REIT & Property Company
PEMUS Pennsvania RET NYSE Prilacelpnia PA  REIT & Property Company
poc-US Physicians Realty Trust NYSE Milwaukes Wi RET & Property Company
POM-US Piedmont Office Realty Trust nNYSE Johne Creak GA  REIT & Propery Gom pany
PCL-US Plum Creak Timber Co. NYSE Sesttia WA REIT & Propearty Cormpany
PPS-US Fost Fropearties InG. NYSE Atlanta =) REIT & Propery Company
PCH-US Potlatch Corp. MNASDAQ Spokane WA  REIT & Property Company
WS Power REIT NYSE nsT Oia Betnoage NY REIT & Property Company
APTS-US Preferred Apartment Comm. NvsE Atanta A RET & Propery Gompany
PONLB-US Presigential Reany Gorg. oT1C Pink New York MY  REIT & Propery Gompany
PLO-US Prologis inc. . NYSE San Francisco GA  REIT & Property Com pany
PSB-US PS Business Parks Ina. NYSE Slendale CA  RET & Propersy Garm pany
FSAUS Public Storage Glencmle CA  REIT & Proparty Com pany
QTs-uS QTS Realhy Trust inc. Overland Park K5  REIT & Propemy Gompany
RPT-US RamMco-GErsnenson Proparnies, NYSE Farmington Hiils M REIT & Property Company
RYN-US Rayonier Inc. Jacksonville FL  REIT & Properyy Company
ous Realty Income Corp. o CA  REIT & Propery Com psny
REG-US Regency Centers Corp. . FL  REIT & Property Company
ROIC-US Retail Oppomunity Investments NASDAQ CA  REIT & Propeny Cam pany
RPAILUS Retail Properties of Amarica NYSE ([ REIT & Property Company
RVEN-US Rewen HousINg REIT inc. orcae CA  REIT& Propeny Company
REXR-US Rexford Industrial Realty ino. NYSE <A REIT & Propeny Company
Riu-US RLJ Lodging Trust NYSE MO REIT & Propermy Com pany
REE-US Rouse Properties Inc. NYSE NY REIT & Propery Campany
RHP-US Ryman Hespitality Properties NYSE e REIT & Propamy Company
SeRA-US Sapra Heanth Care REMT NASDAQ oA REIT & Propery Company
BFSUS Seul Genters ine., NYSE MD  REIT & Property Company
SBIR-US Select Income REMT NYSE MA  REIT & Proparty Company
SnHUS Senior Housing Propertiss rvsE MA  REIT & Propery Company
SRGUS Seritage Growth Properties YSE NY  REIT & Propermy Company
sev-us Silver Bay Reatty Trust Corp. NYSE MN  REIT & Property Gompany
S Simon Fropery Group NYSE N REIT & Property Company
sLe-us SL Green Realty Carp. NYSE MY REIT & Property Company
SoHO-US SoTHERLY Hotels inc. NASDAG VA REIT & Propery Company
S5 Sovran Seif Storage Inc. NYSE NY REIT & Property Company
BRO-US Spirit Realty Capital Inc. NYSE AZ REIT & Propery Company
STAG-US STAG Industrial Ine. NySE MA  REIT & Propary Company
SToR-US STORE Capital Corp. ~NYSE AZ  REIT & Property Company
NS Summit Hotel Properdes Ino NYSE TX__REIT & Propermy Gompan;




SNL US REIT Equity Index Constituents - continued

Trading Symbol-:Company Exchange @ City - Industry - x
SUHUS Sun Communities Inc. NYSE Southfield M| REIT & Property Company
SHOUS Sunstone Hotel Investors Inc. NYSE Aliso Viejo CA  REIT & Property Company
TCO-US Taubman Centers Inc. NYSE Bloomfield Hills MI  REIT & Property Company
TRNO-US Terreno Realty Corp. NYSE San Francisco CA  REIT & Property Company
TIER-US TIER REIT Inc. NYSE Dallas TX REIT & Property Company
UDR-US UDR Inc. NYSE Highlands Ranch CO  REI & Property Company
UMH-US UMH Properties Inc. NYSE Freehold NJ  REIT & Property Company
UHT-US Universal Health Realty Trust NYSE King Of Prussia PA  REIT & Property Company
UEUS Urban Edge Properties NYSE New York NY REIT & Property Company
UBA-US Urstadt Biddle Properties Inc. NYSE Greenwich CT REIT & Property Company
VIRUS Ventas Inc. NYSE Chicago IL  REIT & Property Company
VER-US VEREIT inc. MNYSE Phoenix AZ  REIT & Property Company
VNO-US Vornado Realty Trust NYSE New York NY REIT & Property Company
WPC-US W. P, CareyInc. . NYSE New York NY  REIT & Property Company
WRE-US Washington REIT NYSE Washington DC REIT & Property Company
WRIHUS Weingarten Reafty Invéstors NYSE Houston TX  REIT & Property Cornpany
= HCN-US Welltower Inc. * . NYSE Toledo {OH . REIT & Property Company
WY-US Weyerhaeuser Co. NYSE Federal Way WA REIT & Property Company
WHLR-US Wheeler REIT Inc. NASDAQ Virginia Beach VA  REIT & Property Company
WSR-US Whitestone REIT NYSE Houstan TX  REIT & Property Company
FUR-US Winthrop Realty Trust NYSE Boston MA REIT & Property Company
WPG-US WP Glimcher Inc NYSE Columbus OH  REIT & Property Company
XHR-US Xenia Hotels & Resorts Inc, NYSE Orlando FL  REIT & Property Company

SNL U.S. REIT Equity : Includes all publicly traded (NYSE, NYSE MKT, NASDAQ, OTC) Equity REITS in SNL's coverage universe.



Exhibit 12.1

TANGER FACTORY OUTLET CENTERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(in thousands, except ratios)

Three months ended March 31,

2016 2015

Earnings:

Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures and noncontrolling interests() $ 25118 § 33,843
Add:

Distributed income of unconsolidated joint ventures 2,709 2,719

Amortization of capitalized interest 158 513

Interest expense 14,884 13,089

Portion of rent expense - interest factor 609 536
Total earnings 43,478 50,700
Fixed charges:

Interest expense 14,884 13,089

Capitalized interest and capitalized amortization of debt issue costs 507 1,438

Portion of rent expense - interest factor 609 536
Total fixed charges $ 16,000 $ 15,063
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 27 3.4

(1) Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures and noncontrolling interests includes a $4.9 million
gain on the sale of our outlet center in Fort Myers, Florida located near Sanibel Island and a $13.7 million gain on the
sale of our equity interest in the Wisconsin Dells joint venture for the period ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015,
respectively.



Exhibit 12.2
TANGER PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND SUBSIDIARIES

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(in thousands, except ratios)

Three months ended March

31,
2016 2015

Earnings:

Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures and noncontrolling interests(") $ 25118 § 33,843
Add:

Distributed income of unconsolidated joint ventures 2,709 2,719

Amortization of capitalized interest 158 513

Interest expense 14,884 13,089

Portion of rent expense - interest factor 609 536
Total earnings 43,478 50,700
Fixed charges:

Interest expense 14,884 13,089

Capitalized interest and capitalized amortization of debt issue costs 507 1,438

Portion of rent expense - interest factor 609 536
Total fixed charges $ 16,000 $ 15,063
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 27 3.4

(1) Income before equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures and noncontrolling interests includes a $4.9 million
gain on the sale of our outlet center in Fort Myers, Florida located near Sanibel Island and a $13.7 million gain on the
sale of our equity interest in the Wisconsin Dells joint venture for the period ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015,
respectively.



Exhibit 31.1

I, Steven B. Tanger, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. for the period ended March 31,
2016;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2016

[s/ Steven B. Tanger

Steven B. Tanger

President and Chief Executive Officer
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.



Exhibit 31.2

I, Frank C. Marchisello, Jr., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc. for the period ended March 31,
2016;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

~

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely

to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

)

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2016

[s/ Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.

Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.

Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.




Exhibit 31.3

I, Steven B. Tanger, certify that:

1 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tanger Properties Limited Partnership for the period ended March 31, 2016;

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4 The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5 The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  May 4, 2016

/sl Steven B. Tanger

Steven B. Tanger
President and Chief Executive Officer
Tanger GP Trust, sole general partner of the Operating Partnership



Exhibit 31.4

I, Frank C. Marchisello, Jr., certify that:

1 | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tanger Properties Limited Partnership for the period ended March 31, 2016;

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4 The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5 The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 4, 2016

/sl Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Vice-President and Treasurer

Tanger GP Trust, sole general partner of the Operating Partnership
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers,
Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date: May 4, 2016 /sl Steven B. Tanger

Steven B. Tanger
President and Chief Executive Officer
Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.




Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Tanger Factory Outlet Centers,
Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 4, 2016 /sl Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.

Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Tanger Factory Outlet Centers, Inc.




Exhibit 32.3

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Tanger Properties Limited Partnership
(the “Operating Partnership”) hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Operating Partnership for the period ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Operating
Partnership.
Date: May 4, 2016 /s/ Steven B. Tanger

Steven B. Tanger
President and Chief Executive Officer
Tanger GP Trust, sole general partner of the Operating Partnership



Exhibit 32.4

Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Tanger Properties Limited Partnership
(the “Operating Partnership”) hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Operating Partnership for the period ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(i) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Operating
Partnership.
Date: May 4, 2016 /s/ Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.

Frank C. Marchisello, Jr.

Vice President and Treasurer
Tanger GP Trust, sole general partner of the Operating Partnership
(Principal Financial Officer)



